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MATURITY SCHEDULE
$5,965,000 Serial Bonds

Year Principal Interest
(December 1) Amount Rate(%) Yield(%)

2022 $640,000 2.250 2.250
2023 700,000 2.550 2.550
2024 710,000 2.750 2.750
2025 735,000 3.000 3.000
2026 755,000 3.150 3.150
2027 785,000 3.250 3.250
2028 805,000 3.400 3.400
2029 835,000 3.450 3.450

$1,740,000 3.500% Term Bonds due December 1, 2031 to Yield 3.650%
$1,875,000 3.625% Term Bonds due December 1, 2033 to Yield 3.900%
$1,980,000 4.000% Term Bonds due December 1, 2036 to Yield 4.000%
$1,455,000 4.150% Term Bonds due December 1, 2038 to Yield 4.150%



No dealer, broker, salesman or any other person has been authorized to give any information or to
make any representations other than those contained in this Official Statement in connection with the
offering of the Series 2022 Bonds and, if given or made, such information or representations must not
be relied upon as having been authorized. Neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale
hereunder shall under any circumstances create any implication that there has been no change in the
business, operations or financial condition of the Board, the Arkansas State University System or
Arkansas State University since the date hereof. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer
or solicitation in any state in which such offer or solicitation is not authorized, or in which the person
making such offer or solicitation is not qualified to do so, or is made to any person to whom it is
unlawful to make such offer or solicitation.
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT
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BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE
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STUDENT FEE REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS
(JONESBORO CAMPUS)
TAXABLE SERIES 2022

INTRODUCTION

This Official Statement of the Board of Trustees of the Arkansas State University System (the
"Board"), including the cover page, inside front cover page and exhibit, is furnished with respect to
the sale by the Board of its $13,015,000 Student Fee Revenue Refunding Bonds (Jonesboro Campus),
Taxable Series 2022 (the "Series 2022 Bonds").

There follows in this Official Statement a description of the Series 2022 Bonds, the revenues providing
the security for the Series 2022 Bonds and certain other information concerning this financing and
other matters of interest related to the Board, the Arkansas State University System (the "System")
and Arkansas State University, a public, four-year university located in Jonesboro, Arkansas (the
"University"). The financial data with regard to the Board has been provided from the records of the
Board and the System.

The Series 2022 Bonds are being issued pursuant to and in full compliance with the Constitution and
laws of the State of Arkansas (the "State"), particularly Title 6, Chapter 62, Subchapter 3 of the
Arkansas Code of 1987 Annotated, and a Resolution adopted by the Board on March 28, 2022.

The Series 2022 Bonds are secured by a Trust Indenture dated as of December 1, 2010, as
supplemented by a First Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of March 1, 2012, a Second
Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of December 1, 2012, a Third Supplemental Trust Indenture
dated as of December 1, 2013, a Fourth Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of November 17, 2016,
a Fifth Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of December 18, 2019 and a Sixth Supplemental Trust
Indenture dated as of April 28, 2022 (collectively, the "Indenture"), between the Board and The Bank
of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (the "Trustee").

The Series 2022 Bonds are secured by a pledge of (a) gross student fees, including tuition and (b) other
Eledged revenues (being the net revenues from any facilities constructed, reconstructed or improved

y use of any of the proceeds of the Prior Student Fee Bonds or the Student Fee Bonds (the
"Consolidated Building System")), with (a) and (b) being collectively referred to as "Pledged Student
Fee Revenues. The pledge of the Pledged Student Fee Revenues in favor of the Series 2022 Bonds is
(a) subordinate to the pledge securing the Prior Student Fee Bonds, hereinafter described and (b) on a
parity with the pledge securing the Parity Student Fee Bonds, hereinafter described. The Indenture
permits the issuance of Additional Student Fee Bonds (as described under THE INDENTURE)
secured by a pledge of the Pledged Student Fee Revenues on a parity with the pledge securing the
Series 2022 Bonds. The Indenture establishes the terms and conditions upon which the Series 2022
Bonds are issued. Specific covenants concerning the maintenance of the Pledged Student Fee
Revenues are described under THE INDENTURE herein.

Descriptions of the Board, the System, the University, the Series 2022 Bonds, the Indenture and other
documents are included in this Official Statement. Such descriptions do not purport to be
comprehensive or definitive; all references herein to the Indenture or other documents are qualified in
their entirety by reference to the definitive form thereof and the information with respect thereto
included in the Indenture. Terms not defined herein shall be given the meaning set forth in the specific
instruments or documents.



This Official Statement speaks only as of its date, and the information contained herein is subject to
change. Copies of the Indenture and other documents referenced or summarized herein are available
upon request from Stephens Inc., 111 Center Street, Suite 1720, Little Rock, Arkansas 72201,
Attention: Public Finance or Crews & Associates, Inc., First Security Center, 521 President Clinton
Avenue, Suite 800, Little Rock, Arkansas 72201, Attention: Public Finance.

THE SERIES 2022 BONDS

Generally. The Series 2022 Bonds will be dated as of their date of delivery, and will bear interest
from that date, payable semiannually on June 1 and December 1 of each year commencing December
1, 2022, at the rates set forth on the inside front cover page of this Official Statement, and will mature
on December 1 in the years and amounts set forth on the inside front cover page of this Official
Statement. The Series 2022 Bonds are issuable as fully registered bonds in the denomination of $5,000
or any integral multiple thereof. Principal of the Series 2022 Bonds is payable at the principal office
of The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (the "Trustee"). Interest will be
payable to the person in whose name such Series 2022 Bonds are registered on the registration books
maintained by the Trustee (the "Registered Owner") at the close of business on the fifteenth day of the
month immediately preceding the month in which any interest payment date on the Series 2022 Bonds
occurs.

Authority and Security. The Series 2022 Bonds are being issued under the Constitution and laws of
the State, including Arkansas Code of 1987 Annotated, Title 6, Chapter 62, Subchapter 3, and pursuant
to a Resolution adopted by the Board on March 28, 2022.

The Series 2022 Bonds will be general obligations only of the Board and will not constitute an
indebtedness for which the faith and credit of the State or any of its revenues are pledged and will not
be secured by a mortgage or a lien on any land or building belonging to the State or to the Board. The
Series 2022 Bonds are secured by a pledge of (a) gross student fees, including tuition and (b) other
Eledged revenues (being the net revenues from any facilities constructed, reconstructed or improved

y use of any of the proceeds of the Prior Student Fee Bonds or the Student Fee Bonds (the
"Consolidated Building System")), with (a) and (b) being collectively referred to as "Pledged Student
Fee Revenues." Pledged Student Fee Revenues include revenues only of the University.

The pledge of Pledged Student Fee Revenues in favor of the Series 2022 Bonds is (a) subordinate to
the pledge securing the Prior Student Fee Bonds and (b) on a parity with the pledge securing the Parity
Student Fee Bonds.

The "Prior Student Fee Bonds" are the Board of Trustees of Arkansas State University Student Fee
(Consolidated Building System) Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2005.

The "Parity Student Fee Bonds" are the Board of Trustees of Arkansas State University Student Fee
Revenue Refunding Bonds (Jonesboro Campus), Series 2012B; Board of Trustees of Arkansas State
University Student Fee Revenue Bonds (Jonesboro Campus), Series 2012C; Board of Trustees of
Arkansas State University Student Fee Revenue Bonds (Jonesboro Campus), Series 2012D; Board of
Trustees of Arkansas State University Student Fee Revenue Bonds (Jonesboro Campus), Series
2013B; Board of Trustees of Arkansas State University Student Fee Revenue Refunding Bonds
(Jonesboro Campus), Series 2016 and Board of Trustees of Arkansas State University Student Fee
Revenue Refunding Bonds (Jonesboro Campus), Series 2019.

The Board has covenanted that it will not issue any bonds on a parity of security with the Prior Student
Fee Bonds or otherwise secured by a pledge superior to that securing the Student Fee Bonds. The
Indenture permits the issuance of Additional Student Fee Bonds. See THE INDENTURE, Additional
Student Fee Bonds.

As used herein, the term "Student Fee Bonds" refers to the Series 2022 Bonds, the Parity Student Fee
Bonds and any Additional Student Fee Bonds.



The Series 2022 Bonds are and will be equally and ratably secured by and entitled to the protection of
a Trust Indenture dated as of December 1, 2010, as supplemented by a First Supplemental Trust
Indenture dated as of March 1, 2012, a Second Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of December 1,
2012, a Third Supplemental Trust Indenture datedp as of December 1, 2013, a Fourth Supplemental
Trust Indenture dated as of November 17, 2016, a Fifth Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of
December 18, 2019 and a Sixth Supplemental Trust Indenture c{)ated as of April 28, 2022 (collectively,
the "Indenture") between the Board and the Trustee. See THE INDENTURE.

The Board has covenanted to increase the student registration and other student fees at the University
from time to time, if necessary, so that the amounts received therefrom, together with the available
amounts of other Pledged Student Fee Revenues, will at all times be equal to the maximum annual
principal and interest on all Student Fee Bonds and Prior Student Fee Bonds outstanding, with
Trustee’s fees and like servicing costs, as due and payable. See THE INDENTURE.

There is no debt service reserve securing the Series 2022 Bonds.

Redemption. (a) The Series 2022 Bonds will be subject to redemption prior to maturity, at the option
of the Board, in whole or in part on any date, on and after June 1, 2029 (from such maturities as may
be determined by the Board and by lot within a maturity, by any method chosen by the Trustee for
selection by lot), at a redemption price equal to the principal amount being redeemed plus accrued
interest to the redemption date.

(b) The Series 2022 Bonds maturing on December 1 in the years 2031, 2033, 2036 and
2038 are subject to redemption prior to maturity, selected by the Trustee by lot, at a redemption price
equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest to the redemption date, on December 1 of
each year as follows:

Series 2022 Bonds Maturing December 1, 2031

Year Principal Amount
2030 $855,000
2031 (maturity) 885,000

Series 2022 Bonds Maturing December 1, 2033

Year Principal Amount
2032 $925,000
2033 (maturity) 950,000

Series 2022 Bonds Maturing December 1, 2036

Year Principal Amount
2034 $635,000
2035 660,000
2036 (maturity) 685,000

Series 2022 Bonds Maturing December 1, 2038

Year Principal Amount
2037 $710,000
2038 (maturity) 745,000

So long as the Series 2022 Bonds are issued in book-entry-only form, if fewer than all the Series 2022
Bonds of a particular maturity are called for redemption, the particular Series 2022 Bonds to be
redeemed will be selected pursuant to the procedures established by DTC. So long as the Series 2022
Bonds are issued in book-entry-only form, notice of redemption will be mailed, first class mail, postage
prepaid, or sent via other standard means, including electronic or facsimile communication, not less



than 30 days before the redemption date, to Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC. The Trustee will not
give any notice of redemption to the Beneficial Owners of the Series 2022 Bonds.

Purpose. Proceeds of the Series 2022 Bonds will be used to refund the Board of Trustees of Arkansas
State University Student Fee Revenue Refunding Bonds (Jonesboro Campus), Series 2012A
(Federally Taxable) (the "2012A Bonds") and the Board of Trustees of Arkansas State University
Student Fee Revenue Bonds (Jonesboro Campus), Series 2013A (Federally Taxable) (the "2013A
Bonds" and collectively with the 2012A Bonds, the "Bonds Refunded") and to pay costs of issuance.

A portion of the proceeds of the Series 2022 Bonds will be held by the Trustee and used to fully redeem
the 2012A Bonds on May 16, 2022 at par.

A portion of the proceeds of the Series 2022 Bonds will be held by the Trustee and invested in United
States Treasury Obligations which will mature and bear interest at such times and in such amounts as
will, together with uninvested cash, provide a cash flow sufficient to pay the principal of and interest
on the 2013A Bonds to and including December 1, 2023 and to ul%; redeem the 2013A Bonds
maturing after December 1, 2023 on December 1, 2023 at par.

Sources and Uses of Proceeds. The sources and uses of funds are estimated as follows:

Sources:
Par Amount of Series 2022 Bonds $13,015,000
Existing Funds for Bonds Refunded 3
Original Issue Discount (68.794)
Total $12,946,209
Uses:
Refunding Costs $12,700,058
Costs of Issuance 129,016
Underwriters' Discount 117,135
Total $12,946,209

PLEDGED STUDENT FEE REVENUES

Pledged Student Fee Revenues are composed of gross student fee revenues, including tuition, and
revenues of the Consolidated Building System (being net revenues of any facility constructed,
reconstructed or improved by use of any of the proceeds of any of the Student Fee Bonds or Prior
Student Fee Bonds). The buildings included in the Consolidated Building System are primarily
academic buildings and are not regarded as a source of revenues. Accordingly, only gross student fees
arefdlilscussed herein. Gross student fees per credit hour, as now collected by the University, are fixed
as follows:

Undergraduate Summer Term Fall/Spring Term
Resident $295 $295
Non Resident 527 527
Graduate
Resident $354 $354
Non Resident 631 631



For the preceding five fiscal years, gross student fee revenues (including scholarship allowances) have
equaled the following:

2020-21 2019-20 2018-19 2017-18 2016-17

Gross Student $87,680,272 $92,369,705 $92,505,319 $91,670,914 $87,880,382
Fees

SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS RELATED TO COVID-19

The World Health Organization declared a pandemic in 2020 following the global outbreak of
COVID-19, a respiratory disease caused by a new strain of coronavirus.

In accordance with recommended social distancing measures, the University moved all of its classes
online on March 30, 2020, for the remainder of the spring semester and cancelled all nonessential
events and gatherings including athletics. The University campus remained open with significantly
reduced operations to meet safety protocols, then returned to mostly regular operations with in-person,
online and hybrid classes during the Fall 2020 semester while continuing extension safety protocols
recommended by the Arkansas Department of Health and the U.S. Centers for Disease Control. During
all of 2021 and continuing with spring semester 2022, the University has offered a mix of in-person,
hybrid, and fully online courses with residence halls open.

The University has multiple contingency plans in place to adapt to future changes that may be required
by state or federal authorities. The Board, the System, and the University will continue to monitor the
COVID-19 situation and will adjust its policies and operations as needed for safety.

BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM

The Depository Trust Company ("DTC"), New York, New York, or its successor, will act as securities
depository for the Series 2022 Bonds. The Series 2022 Bonds will each be issued as fully-registered
securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as
may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully-registered bond certificate for
each maturity of the Series 2022 Bonds will be issued in the principal amount of the maturity and will
be deposited with DTC.

DTC is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a "banking
organization" within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve
System, a "clearing corporation" within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code,
and a "clearing agency" registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds securities that its participants ("Direct Participants") deposit with
DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other
securities transactions in deposited securities through electronic computerized book-entry transfers
and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement
of securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and
dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations. DTC is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Closing Corporation ("DTCC"). DTCC is the
holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing
Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated
subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S.
securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies and clearing corporations that clear through or
maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly ("Indirect
Participants"). The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com.

Purchases of Series 2022 Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct
Participants, which will receive a credit for the Series 2022 Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership
interest of each actual purchaser of each Series 2022 Bond (referred to herein as "Beneficial Owner")
is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners will not
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receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected
to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of
their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into
the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Series 2022 Bonds are to be accomplished by
entries made on the books of Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners
will not receive certificates representing their ownership interest in Series 2022 Bonds, except in the
event that use of the book-entry system for the Series 2022 Bonds is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Series 2022 Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC
are registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co. or such other name as may be
requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of Series 2022 Bonds with DTC and
their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in
beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Series 2022
Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Series
2022 Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. Direct and Indirect
Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct
Participants to Indirect Participants and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial
Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory
requirements as may be in effect from time to time.

Redemption notices will be sent to Cede & Co. If fewer than all of the Series 2022 Bonds are being
redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant
to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to the
Series 2022 Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI
Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the Trustee as soon as
possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights
to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the Series 2022 Bonds are credited on the record date
(identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

Principal, interest and premium, if any, payments on the Series 2022 Bonds will be made to Cede &
Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s
practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail
information from the Board or the Trustee, on the payable date in accordance with their respective
holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed
by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts
of customers in bearer form or registered in "street name," and will be the responsibility of such
Participant and not of DTC, the Trustee or the Board, subject to any statutory or regulatory
requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of principal, interest and premium, 1f
any, to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested gy an authorized representative of
DTC) is the responsibility of the Trustee, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will
be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners shall be
the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as securities depository with respect to the Series 2022
Bonds at any time by giving reasonable notice to the Board or the Trustee. Under such circumstances,
in the event that a successor securities depository is not obtained, Series 2022 Bonds are required to
be printed and delivered. The Board may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry
transfers through DTC (or a successor securities depository). In that event, Series 2022 Bonds will be
printed and delivered.

The information concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry system set forth above has been obtained
from DTC. Neither the Underwriters nor the Board make any representation or warranty regarding
the accuracy or completeness thereof.



So long as the Series 2022 Bonds are in book-entry only form, Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC,
will be treated as the sole owner of the Series 2022 Bonds for all purposes under the Indenture,
including receipt of all principal of and interest on the Series 2022 Bonds, receipt of notices,
voting and requesting or directing the Trustee to take or not to take, or consenting to, certain
actions under the Indenture. The Board and the Trustee have no responsibility or obligation to
the Participants or the Beneficial Owners with respect to (a) the accuracy of any records
maintained by DTC or any Participant; (b) the payment by any Participant of any amount due
to any Beneficial Owner in respect of the principal of and interest on the Series 2022 Bonds; (¢)
the delivery or timeliness of delivery by any Participant of any notice to any Beneficial Owner
which is required or permitted under the terms of the Indenture to be given to owners of the
Series 2022 Bonds; or (d) other action taken by DTC or Cede & Co. as owner of the Series 2022
Bonds.

ARKANSAS STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM

History. Arkansas State University began in Jonesboro in 1909 as a state agriculture school. The
institution opened as a vocational high school in 1910 and changed to State Agricultural and
Mechanical College in 1925. Authority to extend the curriculum, offer senior college work, and grant
degrees was given to the institution by the Arkansas General Assembly in 1931. In 1933, the Arkansas
General Assembly changed the name of the college to Arkansas State College. Master-level graduate
rograms were begun in 1955. The institution was granted university status by the General Assembly
in 1967 and became Arkansas State University. Its first doctoral degree in Educational Leadership
was awarded in 1992. Additional doctoral programs include Environmental Sciences (1998), Heritage
Studies (2001), Molecular Biosciences (2006), Nursing Practice (2012), Physical Therapy (2012), and
Occupational Therapy (2018). In 2018, the Carnegie Classification of Institutions of Higher Education
elevated Arkansas State University from "Master’s/regional" M1 classification to "Doctoral
Universities: High Research Activity" R2 classification to reflect its growth in research activity.

Through mergers or other authority of the Board, multiple institutions, campuses and programs have
been established and are described below. In 1998, the Board approved the recognition and
designation of the System to encompass all the institutions, locations, and activities described herein.

Arkansas State University in Jonesboro is the largest member institution of the System. The four-year
institution operates degree centers on the campuses of ASU-Beebe, ASU-Mountain Home and ASU
Mid-South, as well as an additional campus near Queretaro, Mexico, which opened in 2017.

Arkansas State University-Beebe began in 1927 as Junior Agricultural School of Central Arkansas.
In 1955, the Arkansas General Assembly designated the school a campus of Arkansas State College
and in 1967 it became Arkansas State University-Beebe. In addition to the original campus in Beebe,
the institution has established campuses at the Little Rock Air Force Base in 1965, Heber Springs in
1999, and, through a merger with Foothills Technical Institute, at Searcy in 2003.

In 1991, the Arkansas General Assembly created Mountain Home Technical College through the
merger of Baxter County Community/Technical Center and the North Arkansas Community/
Technical Center in Mountain Home. The institution was designated Arkansas State University-
Mountain Home in 1995.

In 1975, the Arkansas General Assembly established the White River Vocational Technical School at
Newport. In 1992, the school merged with Arkansas State University-Beebe and in 1997 was
designated as Arkansas State University-Newport. ASU-Newport has additional campuses in Marked
Tree and Jonesboro.

Arkansas State University Mid-South in West Memphis began in 1982 as Mid-South Vocational
School. In 1991, the Arkansas General Assembly designated the school as a technical college and it
became Mid-South Technical College. In 1993, the school became a community college known as
Mid-South Community College. On July 1, 2015 the college became part of ﬂZe System and was
renamed Arkansas State University Mid- South.



In 1969, Ouachita Vocational Technical School was created in Malvern. It became Ouachita Technical
College in 1991, then changed its name to College of the Ouachitas in 2011 to better reflect its
comprehensive mission. The college joined the System and became Arkansas State University Three
Rivers on Jan. 1, 2020.

Henderson State University was founded as a private institution in 1890 and has a strong liberal arts

heritage that is the base of more than 65 undergraduate and graduate programs. Henderson State

University became part of the System on February 1, 2021, following the passage of Act 18 of 2021

by the Arkansas General Assembly and approval by the Governor. Henderson State University is the

f&e?nd oldest public university in Arkansas and expands the System’s footprint in southwestern
rkansas.

On September 22, 2017, the University opened the Arkansas State University Campus Queretaro in
Queretaro, Mexico. Classes began on September 4, 2017, and Fall 2021 enrollment was 889 students
on the state-of-the-art campus. Campus Queretaro is the first American-style university campus in
Mexico. Arkansas State University CQ, A.C., a private foundation led gy Mexico businessman
Ricardo Gonzalez, invested more tzan $100 million to build 800,000 square feet of academic and
residential buildings and recreational facilities in the first phase of the 370-acre campus. State funds
are not being used to build or operate the campus, and all of the System’s startup costs are reimbursed
with funds from private gifts.

Enrollment. Enrollment across the System during the Fall 2021 semester was 25,196. Enrollment at
the System institutions (based on the fall semester) for each of the previous five years was as follows:

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Arkansas State University 14,144 14,058 13,891 13,843 13,752
ASU-Beebe 3,738 3,446 3,330 2,988 2,776
ASU-Mountain Home 1,441 1,345 1,329 1,276 1,246
ASU-Newport 2,512 2,275 2,362 1,942 1,829
ASU Mid-South 1,561 1,423 1,326 1,203 1,077
ASU Three Rivers* N/A N/A N/A 1,254 1,597
Henderson State University** N/A N/A N/A 3,163 2,919

System Totals 23,396 22,547 22,238 25,669 25,196

*Became part of the System on January 1, 2020.
**Became part of the System on February 1, 2021.

Admissions. The following is a five-year history of undergraduate admissions.

First Time Undergraduates

Fiscal Year Applied Admitted Enrolled
2017-18 12,550 9,905 3,091
2018-19 10,248 6,691 3,404
2019-20 8,429 6,107 2,909
2020-21%* 12,468 10,360 3,888
2021-22% 11,374 8,203 3,965

New Undergraduate Transfers

Fiscal Year Applied Admitted Enrolled
2017-18 3,262 2,452 1,329
2018-19 4,320 2,453 1,614
2019-20 3,715 2,039 1,235
2020-21%* 4,097 2,943 1,510
2021-22% 4,121 2,572 1,249

*Includes Arkansas State University Three Rivers and Henderson State University.
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Faculty. As of the Fall 2021 semester, the System employed 945 faculty members: 504 at Arkansas
State University; 95 at ASU-Beebe; 37 at ASU-Mountain Home; 67 at ASU-Newport; 38 at ASU
Mid-South; 37 at ASU Three Rivers; and 167 at Henderson State University.

Accreditation. The institutions of the System are each accredited by the Higher Learning Commission
and have accreditations, licensures or program approvals from the following organizations:
Accreditation Board for Engineering and Technology (ABET), Accreditation Commission for
Education in Nursing (ACEN), Accreditation Council for Education in Nutrition and Dietetics
(ACEND), Accreditation Council for Occupational Therapy Education (ACOTE), Accreditation
Council for Pharmacy Education (ACPE), Accrediting Council on Education in Journalism and Mass
Communications (ACEJMC), American Alliance of Museums (AAM), American Chemical Society
(ACS), American Council on the Teaching of Foreign Languages (ACTFL), American Diabetes
Association (ADA), American School Counselor Association (ASCA), American Society of Health-
System Pharmacists (ASHP), American Veterinary Medical Association Committee on Veterinary
Technician Education and Activities (CVTEA), Arkansas Department of Health - State Board of
Health, Arkansas Department of Health Section of EMS and Trauma, Arkansas Department of Human
Services Office of Long-Term Care, Arkansas State Approving Agency for Veterans Training,
Arkansas State Board of Nursing, Association for Middle Level Education (AMLE), Association for
Play Therapy, Association of Technology, Management and Applied Engineering (ATMAE),
Association to Advance Collegiate Schools of Business (AACSB), Automotive Service Excellence
Education Foundation, Commission on Accreditation for Law Enforcement Agencies (CALEA),
Commission on Accreditation for Respiratory Care (COARC), Commission on Accreditation in
Physical Therapy Education (CAPTE), Commission on Accreditation of Allied Health Education
Programs (CAAHEP), Commission on Accreditation of Athletic Training Education (CAATE),
Commission on Collegiate Nursing Education (CCNE), Commission on English Language Program
Accreditation (CEA), Commission on Sport Management Accreditation (COSMA), Committee on
Accreditation of Educational Programs for the Emergency Medical Services Professions (COAEMSP),
Council for Accreditation of Counseling and Related Educational Programs (CACREP), Council for
Exceptional Children (CEC), Council for the Accreditation of Educator Preparation (CAEP), Council
for the Accreditation of Emergency Management and Homeland Security Education (CAEMHSE),
Council for the Accreditation of Emergency Management Education (CAEME), Council on Academic
Accreditation (CAA) in Audiology and Speech-Language Pathology, Council on Accreditation of
Nurse Anesthesia Educational Programs (COA), Council on Social Work Education (CSWE), HVAC
Excellence, Joint Review Committee on Education in Diagnostic Medical Sonography (JRCDMS),
Joint Review Committee on Education in Radiologic Technology (JRCERT), National Accrediting
Agency for Clinical Laboratory Sciences (NAACLS), National Alliance of Concurrent Enrollment
Partnerships (NACEP), National Association of School Psychologists (NASP), National Association
of Schools of Art and Design (NASAD), National Association of Schools of Music (NASM), National
Association of Schools of Public Affairs and Administration (NASPAA), National Association of
Schools of Theatre (NAST), National Center for Construction Education and Research (NCCER),
National Council for Social Studies (NCSS), National Council of Teachers of English (NCTE),
National Council of Teachers of Mathematics (NCTM), National Educational Leadership Preparation
(NELP), National Institute for Metalworking Skills (NIMS), and National Policy Board for Education
Administration (NPBEA).

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]



Governance and Administration. The System is governed by the Board, which consists of members
appointed by the Governor of the State. Act 18 of 2021 dissolved the Henderson State University
Board of Trustees and added two members to the Board, giving the Board a total of seven members.
Act 18 of 2021 also changed the name of the Board from the Board of Directors of Arkansas State
University to the Board of Trustees of the Arkansas State University System. The current members
of the Board, their vocations and years of term expiration are as follows:

Name Business or Profession Term Expires
Christy Clark, Chair Controller, Clark Contractors LLC 2023
Price Gardner, Vice Chair* Attorney 2029
Niel Crowson, Secretary Retired CEO, Barton's 2025
Steve Eddington Vice President of Public Relations, 2026
Arkansas Farm Bureau Federation
Robert Rudolph Pastor 2027
Paul Rowton Executive Vice President, GES, Inc. 2028
Jerry Morgan Regional President, First National Bank 2024

*Mr. Gardner is Managing Partner of Friday, Eldredge & Clark, LLP, Bond Counsel for this issue.
System Administration. The current officers are:

Name Office

Dr. Charles L. Welch President

Julie Bates Executive Vice President

Jeff Hankins Vice President for Strategic Communications

Brad Phelps General Counsel

Shane Broadway Vice President for Governmental Relations

Eric Atchison Vice President for Strategic Research

Henry Torres Vice President for Information Technology and CIO

The central administrative offices of the System are located at 501 Woodlane Drive, Suite 600, Little
Rock, Arkansas 72201; telephone: (501) 660-1000.

Dr. Charles L. Welch became the second President of the System on April 23, 2011. He formerly
served as President of Henderson State University, Chancellor of the University of Arkansas
Community College at Hope, Vice Chancellor for Academic Affairs at Arkansas State University-
Beebe and Dean of University Studies at Pulaski Technical College. Dr. Welch received a Bachelor
of Arts degree in political science from the University of Arkansas, received a Master of Arts degree
in political management from George Washington University, and a Doctor of Education degree in
higher education administration from the University of Arkansas at Little Rock.

Campus Administration. The institutions of the System are each led by a chancellor appointed by the
Board in consultation with the President of the University. The current chancellors of the campuses
are:

Name Office
Dr. Kelly Damphousse*  Chancellor, Arkansas State University
Dr. Jennifer Methvin Chancellor, Arkansas State University-Beebe
Dr. Robin Myers Chancellor, Arkansas State University-Mountain Home
Dr. Johnny Moore Chancellor, Arkansas State University-Newport
Dr. Debra West Chancellor, Arkansas State University-Mid-South
Dr. Steve Rook Chancellor, Arkansas State University Three Rivers
Dr. Charles Ambrose Chancellor, Henderson State University

*See ARKANSAS STATE UNIVERSITY, Chancellor.
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General Financial Information. Attached hereto as Exhibit A is a copy of the audited financial
statements of the System for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. Financial information regarding the
University is included in Exhibit A. These financial statements should be read in their entirety.

ARKANSAS STATE UNIVERSITY

Location and Size. Arkansas State University is located in Jonesboro, Arkansas, a city of
approximately 78,500 in northeastern Arkansas. The population of the Jonesboro Metropolitan
Statistical Area is approximately 134,000 and Jonesboro is the center of a 13-county retail trade zone

gf .?gproximately 500,000 people. The campus encompasses approximately 1,263 acres with 188
uildings.

Degree Programs. The programs at the University are designed to meet the needs of the State, the
region, the nation and the international community. Educating people for a global, knowledge-based
economy, retraining and continuing education for the already-employed citizens of the State, and
providing the impetus and support for technology-based economic development are the keys to
diversifying and improving the State’s economy. The University offers 47 degrees, advanced
certificates and graduate certificates that include four associate degrees in 15 fields of study, 15
bachelor’s degrees in 80 fields of study, two graduate certificate in 26 fields of study, 18 master’s
degrees in 56 fields of study, two specialist degrees in five fields of study and five doctoral degrees in
nine fields of study.

The University offers programs at the doctoral, specialist, master’s, bachelor’s and associate degree
levels through the colleges of Agriculture, Niel Griffin College of Business, Engineering and
Computer Science, Education and Behavioral Science, Liberal Arts and Communication, Nursing and
Health Professions, Sciences and Mathematics, University College, and Graduate School.
Additionally, the University offers baccalaureate or graduate degree programs at Arkansas State
University Degree Centers located in Beebe, Mountain Home, Newport, and West Memphis.

The University awarded 5,179 degrees and certificates during the 2020-21 academic year. The number
of 2020-21 degrees conferred included: 117 certificates of proficiency; 629 associate degrees; 1,785
bachelor’s degrees; 95 graduate certificates; 1,850 master’s degrees; 615 specialist degrees and 88
doctoral degrees.

Chancellor. Dr. Kelly Damphousse became Chancellor of the University on July 1, 2017. He had
served as an academic administrator at the University of Oklahoma since 2004 and most recently
served as Dean of the College of Arts and Sciences. He holds a doctoral degree in sociology and a
master's degree in sociology from Texas A&M University. He holds a bachelor's degree in criminal
justice from Sam Houston State University and an associate degree in law enforcement from
Lethbridge College.

Dr. Damphousse recently announced his resignation as Chancellor, effective June 30, 2022. Dr.
Damphousse will become the President of Texas State University on July 1, 2022. No decision has
been made regarding a possible interim appointment or a search process for a new Chancellor.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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Principal and interest on the Prior Student Fee Bonds, the Parity Student Fee Bonds and the Series

DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS

2022 Bonds are payable as follows:

Fiscal Year Prior Student Parity Student Series 2022
Ended June 30 Fee Bonds* Fee Bonds** Bonds Total
2023 $1,607,750.00 $ 2,511,787.54 1,121,592.39 $5,241,129.93
2024 1,610,750.00 2,506,868.80 1,124,423.76 5,242,042.56
2025 420,000.00 2,507,531.30 1,115,736.26 4,043,267.56
2026 -- 2,506,768.80 1,119,948.76 3,626,717.56
2027 -- 2,471,493.80 1,117,032.51 3,588,526.31
2028 -- 2,469,812.54 1,122,385.01 3,592,197.55
2029 -- 2,467,556.28 1,115,943.76 3,583,500.04
2030 -- 2,475,596.28 1,117,855.01 3,593,451.29
2031 -- 2,318,493.78 1,108,488.76 3,426,982.54
2032 -- 2,322,003.78 1,108,038.76 3,430,042.54
2033 -- 2,324,137.52 1,115,785.63 3,439,923.15
2034 -- 2,317,706.28 1,106,801.25 3,424,507.53
2035 -- 2,153,193.75 761,882.50 2,915,076.25
2036 -- 2,161,425.00 760,982.50 2,922.,407.50
2037 -- 2,156,650.01 759,082.50 2,915,732.51
2038 -- 904,237.50 755,650.00 1,659,887.50
2039 -- 901,331.25 760,458.75 1,661,790.00
2040 -- 901,840.63 - 901,840.63
2041 -- 900,643.76 - 900,643.76
2042 -- 897,740.63 - 897,740.63
2024 -- 898,009.38 - 898,009.38
2044 -- 896,328.13 - 896,328.13
TOTAL.: $3,638,500.00 $41,971,156.74 $17,192,088.11 $62,801,744.85

*Board of Trustees of Arkansas State University Student Fee (Consolidated Building System) Revenue Refunding Bonds,
Series 2005.

**Board of Trustees of Arkansas State University Student Fee Revenue Refunding Bonds (Jonesboro Campus), Series
2012B; Board of Trustees of Arkansas State University Student Fee Revenue Bonds (Jonesboro Campus), Series 2012C;
Board of Trustees of Arkansas State University Student Fee Revenue Bonds (Jonesboro Campus), Series 2012D; Board of
Trustees of Arkansas State University Student Fee Revenue Bonds (Jonesboro Campus), Series 2013B; Board of Trustees
of Arkansas State University Student Fee Revenue Refunding Bonds (Jonesboro Campus), Series 2016 and Board of
Trustees of Arkansas State University Student Fee Revenue Refunding Bonds (Jonesboro Campus), Series 2019.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE

Pledged Student Fee Revenues for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 are expected to provide
cmge{flge of maximum annual debt service on the Student Fee Bonds and the Prior Student Fee Bonds
as follows:

Pledged Student Fee Revenues (A)" $87,680,272

Maximum Annual Debt Service on the
Student Fee Bonds and the Prior
Student Fee Bonds (B)? 5,242,043

Debt Service Coverage (A/B) 16.73x

(I)Including scholarship allowances of $37,573,809.
®)Based on a fiscal year ending June 30.

In addition to the Student Fee Bonds and the Prior Student Fee Bonds, the Board, on behalf of the

University, has various series of housing revenue bonds and several notes payable and capital leases

which are currently outstanding. As of June 30, 2021, these additional debt obligations of the

Eniversity totaled $72,040,939 in principal amount. See Notes 5, 6 and 15 in Exhibit A attached
ereto.

RISK FACTORS

The State portion of the Board’s budget is subject to appropriation by the General Assembly of the
State every year, and the Board has no control over the amounts so appropriated. There can be no
assurance that the levels of future appropriations to the Board will not impair its ability to make
payments on the Series 2022 Bonds. The Arkansas Supreme Court has ruled that the State's public
school (primary and secondary) funding system is a priority for appropriation of State funds.

In the 2018-2019 fiscal year, the State implemented a productivity-based funding model (the "Funding
Model") for State-supported institutions of higher education. The productivity-based funding formula
and related policies contain measures for effectiveness, affordability, and efficiency that acknowledge
the following priorities: (i) differences in institutional missions; (ii) completion of students’
educational goals; (iii) progression toward students’ completion of programs of study; (iv)
affordability through (A) on-time completion of programs of study, (B) limiting the number of excess
credits earned by students, and (C) efficient allocation of resources; (v) institutional collaboration that
encourages the successful transfer of students; (vi) success in serving underrepresented students; and
(vil) production of students graduating with credentials in science, technology, engineering,
mathematics, and high-demand fields. The Funding Model replaces the prior Arkansas higher
education funding formula, which was based largely on student enrollment.

Funding for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 and budgeted funding for the fiscal year ending June
30, 2021 was initially impacted by the COVID-19 outbreak, but due to higher than expected State
revenues, funding has been restored to previous levels. There can be no assurance that COVID-19
related budget or funding decreases will not be necessary in the future.

The University lies within the area which is considered by a number of seismologists to be subject to
major earthquake damage in the event of an earthquake along and in the proximity of the New Madrid
Fault. Whether an eart%quake might occur while any of the Series 2022 Bonds are outstanding, the
extent of damage to the University in that event and the effect upon the ability to pay debt service
cannot be fpredicted. Property damage, should an earthquake occur, could result in a reduction in
revenues of such significance that the ability to pay debt service would be impaired or eliminated. At
the present time, the average rate for property damage insurance as a result of earthquake is higher in
northeast Arkansas than the rate for property located outside a fault area.
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THE INDENTURE

Flow of Funds. Pursuant to the Indenture there has been created with a bank or banks which are
members of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation a special fund known as the "Student Fee
Revenue Fund Account" (the "Revenue Fund") into which there is being deposited on or before 30
days prior to an interest or principal payment date from the first gross student fees collected, subject
to payments and deposits requiredp under the Indenture securing the Prior Student Fee Bonds (the "Prior
Student Fee Indenture"), those amounts, which, together with any other Pledged Student Fee Revenues
available, equal not less than one-half (1/2) the maximum annual principal and interest requirements
of all Student Fee Bonds outstanding under the Indenture plus such additional amounts as may be
necessary to comply with all covenants and undertakings set forth in the Indenture. Also, there has
been created with the Trustee a separate trust fund known as the "Student Fee Bond Fund Account"
(the "Bond Fund") into which there is being deposited on or before 15 days prior to each interest or
principal payment date such sums as are necessary, together with funds on deposit therein, to pay the
interest and principal on all outstanding Student Fee Bonds as the same become due. A separate
account has been established in the Bond Fund known as the "Student Fee Debt Service Reserve
Account" (the "Debt Service Reserve") into which there has been deposited and is being maintained
an amount equal to the required level for each issue of Student Fee Bonds (the required level for the
Series 2022 Bonds is $0). Subject to making the required deposits as set forth in the Indenture, the
Board is authorized to use excess funds in the Revenue Fund and the balance of the Pledged Student
Fee Revenues, whether or not in the Revenue Fund, at the close of each twelve month period ending
September 30, to redeem outstanding Student Fee Bonds in accordance with the applicable redemption
provisions of the Indenture or for any lawful purpose.

Investment of Funds. Moneys held for the credit of the Debt Service Reserve in the Bond Fund shall,
upon request by the Board, be invested and reinvested in Permitted Investments, which shall mature
not later than five years after the date of investment.

Moneys held for the credit of any other fund shall, at the request of the Board, be invested and
reinvested in Permitted Investments, which shall mature, or which shall be subject to redemption by
the holder thereof, at the option of the holder, not later than the date or dates when the money held for
the credit of the particular fund will be required for the purposes intended.

Obligations so purchased as an investment of moneys in any such fund shall be deemed at all times to
be a part of such fund, and the interest accruing thereon and any profit realized from such investment
shall be credited to such fund, and any loss resulting from such investment shall be charged to such
fund; provided, however, that if earnings on investments increase the Debt Service Reserve above the
required amount, the excess may be transferred from time to time into the Bond Fund and used as
other moneys therein may be used.

The term "Permitted Investments" means (a) direct or fully guaranteed obligations of the United States
("Government Obligations"), (b) accounts or certificates of deposit of financial institutions insured by
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or, to the extent not so insured, fully collateralized by
Government Obligations, (¢) money market funds composed of Government Obligations and
registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission and meeting the requirement of Rule 7-a
under the Investment Company Act of 1940, and (d) surety bonds or like enhancements issued by
bond insurers rated when issued not less than "A" or "A2" by Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s,
respectively.

Debt Service Reserve. There is no debt service reserve securing the Series 2022 Bonds.

Additional Student Fee Bonds. The Board shall have the power to issue Additional Student Fee Bonds,
ranking on a parity with the then outstanding Student Fee Bonds, provided that the Pledged Student
Fee Revenues for the then preceding fiscal year, as so certified by a financial officer of the University,
equaled an amount not less than 125% of the aggregate maximum annual debt service for the Prior
Student Fee Bonds and the maximum annual debt service for the Student Fee Bonds then outstanding
and the proposed Additional Student Fee Bonds.
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Remedies of Bondholders. The Indenture defines an event of default to include:

(a) Default in the payment of the principal or redemption price of any Student Fee Bond;
(b) Default in the payment of interest and continuation of the default for thirty (30) days;
(c) The Board’s being rendered incapable of fulfilling its obligations under the Indenture;

(d) Any final money judgment against the Board resulting from ownership, control or
oper'cgcion of any financed project which is not discharged or appealed from within sixty
(60) days;

(e) Any proceeding instituted with consent or acquiescence of the Board to effect a
composition with creditors and adjust the claims of creditors payable out of Pledged
Student Fee Revenues; or

) Default in the performance of any other covenant, condition, agreement or provision of
the Indenture and the continuance of such default for thirty (30) days after written
notice; or

(2) An "Event of Default" under the Prior Student Fee Indenture.

Upon the occurrence of any event of default, the Trustee may, and upon written request of the holders
of not less than 20% in principal amount of Student Fee Bonds then outstanding shall, declare the
principal of all the Student Fee Bonds then outstanding to be due and immediately payable. The
Trustee may, and upon the written request of the holders of not less than 20% of the Student Fee Bonds
then outstanding shall, proceed to protect and enforce its rights and the rights of the holders of Student
Fee Bonds under the applicable laws of the State and under the Indenture by such suits, actions or
special proceedings in equity or at law, either for the specific performance of any covenant or
agreement contained in the Indenture or in aid or execution of any power granted in the Indenture or
for the enforcement of any other proper legal or equitable remedy, including mandamus, as the Trustee
shall determine most effectual to enforce and protect such rights.

No bondholder shall have any right to institute any suit, action, mandamus or other proceeding, in
equity or at law, unless the holders of not less than 10% in principal amount of the Bonds then
outstanding shall have made written request of the Trustee and afforded the Trustee a reasonable
opportunity to proceed and shall also have offered to the Trustee reasonable indemnity against costs,
expenses and liabilities to be incurred, and the Trustee shall have refused or neglected to comply with
such request within a reasonable time.

Rate Covenant. Student registration and other student fees at the University will be maintained (and
increased if necessary) so that annual Pledged Student Fee Revenues will be in an amount equal to the
maximum annual principal and interest on all Student Fee Bonds and Prior Student Fee Bonds
outstanding, with Trustee's fees and like servicing fees.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

The Board is a party to multiple continuing disclosure agreements for its various outstanding bond issues.
While the Board has not made any determinations as to materiality, the following paragraphs, while not
exhaustive, summarize the results of the Board's review of compliance with prior continuing disclosure
obligations over the past five years.

The annual report and audit for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 were filed nine days late for multiple
series of bonds. The annual report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 was filed two days late for
multiple series of bonds. The information required to be provided in the late annual reports, as well as the
audit, was available in filings timely made in connection with other then outstanding bonds of the Board.
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A notice concerning the merger of College of the Ouachitas into the System was not linked to the CUSIP
numbers for one series of bonds. This notice was timely linked to all other applicable CUSIP numbers.

The Board failed to timely file notice of a rating change (a rating upgrade) in connection with the Crittenden
County Community College District Limited Tax General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Bonds,
Series 2012. This notice was filed 27 days late.

With the addition of Henderson State University into the System, the Board became the obligated person
for post-merger disclosure with respect to the outstanding bonds issued for the benefit of Henderson State
University. Over the past five years, Henderson State University was a party to multiple continuing
disclosure agreements for its various outstanding bond issues that require the filing of (a) certain financial
information and operating data within 180 days after the end of each fiscal year (the “HSU Deadline”) and
(b) its audited financial statements. The continuing disclosure agreements entered into by Henderson State
University prior to 2014 require audited financial statements to be filed when they become available. The
continuing disclosure agreements entered into by Henderson State University in 2014 and thereafter
require Henderson State University to file audited financial statements within 30 days of becoming
available. Henderson State University is required to file unaudited financial statements if the audited
financial statements are not available by the HSU Deadline. While the Board has not made any
determinations as to materiality, the following paragraph, while not exhaustive, summarizes the results of
the Board’s review of compliance with prior continuing disclosure obligations of Henderson State
University over the past five years.

Henderson State University failed to file its 2017 and 2018 audits immediately upon becoming available
(both were filed five days after becoming available). Neither the 2019 audit nor the 2020 audit were
available by the HSU Deadline. Unaudited financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019
were not filed as required. Unaudited financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 were
timely filed. Audits of Henderson State Universit%r are now included in the audit of the System. The audited
financial statements of the System for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 were timely filed on one of
Henderson State University's outstanding bond issues and were not filed on EMMA in connection with
Henderson State University's remaining bond issues.

The annual reports for Henderson State University for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2017 through June
30, 2020 were timely filed and contained all of the required financial information and operating data. The
annual report for Henderson State University for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 was only filed in
connection with two of Henderson State University's outstanding bond issues and did not contain all of the
required information.

Notices concerning the failures to file were not filed on EMMA.

The Board will enter into a Continuing Disclosure Agreement (the "Disclosure A%reement") with the
Trustee pursuant to which the Board has agreed that the Board will provide, annually and as otherwise
required, information specified in Rule 15¢2-12(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

The following statements are brief summaries of certain provisions of the Disclosure Agreement. The
statements do not purport to be complete, and reference is made to the Disclosure Agreement, copies of
which are available for examination at the offices of the Trustee, for a full statement thereof.

Purpose of the Agreement. The Disclosure Agreement is executed and delivered by the Board and the
Trustee for the benefit of the Registered Owners of the Series 2022 Bonds and in order to assist the
Participating Underwriters in complying with Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15¢2-12(b)(5).

Definitions. In addition to the definitions otherwise set forth herein, the following capitalized terms shall
have the following meanings:

"Annual Report" shall mean any Annual Report provided by the Board, as described below under
Provision of Annual Reports.
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"Beneficial Owner" shall mean any person which (a) has the power, directly or indirectly, to vote
or consent with respect to, or dispose of ownership of, any Series 2022 Bonds (including persons holding
Series 2022 Bonds through nominees, depositories or other intermediaries), or (b) is treated as the owner
of any Series 2022 Bonds for federal income tax purposes.

"Disclosure Representative" shall mean the Executive Vice Chancellor for Finance and
Administration of the University or his or her designee, or such other person as the Board shall
designate in writing to the Trustee from time to time.

"Dissemination Agent" shall mean the Trustee, acting in its capacity as Dissemination Agent under
the Disclosure Agreement, or any successor Dissemination Agent designated in writing by the Board and
which has filed with the Trustee a written acceptance of such designation.

"EMMA" shall mean the Electronic Municipal Market Access system as described in 1934 Act
Release No. 59062 and maintained by the MSRB for purposes of the Rule.

"Financial Obligation" shall mean a
(A)  debt obligation;

(B)  derivative instrument entered into in connection with, or pledged as security or a
source of payment for, an existing or planned debt obligation; or

(C)  guarantee of obligations described in (A) or (B).

The term Financial Obligation shall not include municipal securities as to which a final official statement
has been provided to the MSRB consistent with the Rule.

"Listed Events" shall mean any of the events listed below under Reporting of Listed Events.

"MSRB" shall mean the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board.

"Participating Underwriters" shall mean the underwriters listed on the cover page hereof, the
original underwriters of the Series 2022 Bonds required to comply with the Rule in connection with the
offering of the Series 2022 Bonds.

"Rule" shall mean Rule 15¢2-12(b)(5) adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time.

Provision of Annual Reports. The Board shall, or shall cause the Dissemination Agent to, not later than
December 15 of each year (commencing with the report due December 15, 2022, provide to the MSRB,
through its continuing disclosure service portal provided through EMMA at http://www.emma.msrb.org
or any other similar system acceptable to the Securities and Exchange Commission, an Annual Report
which is consistent with the requirements of the Disclosure Agreement. Not later than fifteen (15) days
prior to said date, the Board shall provide the Annual Report to the Dissemination Agent and the Trustee
(if the Trustee is not the Dissemination Agent). Annual Reports may be submitted as single documents or
as separate documents comprising a package, and may cross-reference other information; provided that
the annual financial statements of the Boarf may be submitted separately from the balance of the Annual
Report and later than the date set forth above for the filing of such Annual Report if they are not available
by that date but shall be submitted within 60 days after receipt thereof by the Board.

Content of Annual Reports. The Annual Report shall contain or incorporate by reference the following:

(a) Information of the type set forth in this Official Statement under the caption
PLEDGED STUDENT FEE REVENUES.
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(b) The annual financial statements of the Board prepared using accounting principles
prescribed by Arkansas Code Annotated Section 10-4-411 as it may be amended from time to time, or
any successor statute, which shall be audited by the Legislative Joint Auditing Committee, Division
of Legislative Audit of the State of Arkansas or by an independent certified public accountant.

Any or all of the items listed above may be incorporated by reference to other documents, including official
statements of debt issues of the Board, which are available to the public on the MSRB’s website or filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission. If the document incorporated by reference is a final official
statement, it must be available from the MSRB. The Board shall clearly identify each such other document
so incorporated by reference.

Reporting of Listed Events. (a) The Board shall give, or cause to be given, notice of the occurrence of any
of the following events with respect to the Series 2022 Bonds:

(1) Principal and interest payment delinquencies.

(i)  Non-payment related defaults, if material.

(ii1))  Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties.

(iv)  Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties.

(v) Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform.

(vi)  Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed
or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other
material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the security, or other material events
affecting the tax-exempt status of the security.

(vii)  Modifications to rights of Beneficial Owners, if material.

(viii)  Series 2022 Bond calls, if material.

(ix)  Defeasances and tender offers.

(x) Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Series 2022
Bonds, if material.

(xi)  Rating changes.
(xii)  Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the obligated person.

(xiii) The consummation of a merger, consolidation or acquisition involving the
Issuer or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Issuer, other than in the ordinary course
of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such action or the termination of a
definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material.

(xiv) Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a
trustee, if material.

(xv)  Incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the Board, if material, or agreement to
covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a Financial Obligation
of the Board, any of which affect security holders, if material.

(xvi) Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or

other similar events under the terms of a Financial Obligation of the Board, any of which reflect
financial difficulties.
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(b) The Dissemination Agent shall, within three (3) business days of obtaining actual
knowledge of the occurrence of any of the Listed Events, contact the Disclosure Representative, inform
such ﬁ)erson of the event, and request that the Issuer promptly notify the Dissemination Agent in writing
whether or not to report the event pursuant to subsection (e) below.

(c) After of the occurrence of a Listed Event, the Board shall determine in a timely manner
which will allow the Dissemination Agent to file the notice within the time frame prescribed by subsection
(e) if such event must be reported under applicable federal securities laws.

(d) If the Board has determined that the occurrence of a Listed Event must be reported under
applicable federal securities laws, the Board shall promptly notify the Dissemination Agent in writing.
Such notice shall instruct the Dissemination Agent to report the occurrence as provided in subsection ()
below at least three (3) business days prior to the date such notice is required to be given pursuant to
subsection (e).

(e) If the Dissemination Agent has been instructed by the Board to report the occurrence of a
Listed Event, the Dissemination Agent shall file, in a timely manner not in excess of ten (10) business days
after the occurrence of such Listed Event (provided that the Dissemination Agent has received timely
instructions from the Board pursuant to subsection (d) above), a notice of such occurrence with the MSRB,
through its continuing disclosure service portal provided through EMMA at http:/www.emma.msrb.org
or any other similar system that is acceptable to the Securities and Exchange Commission, with a copy to
the Trustee (if the Dissemination Agent is not the Trustee). Each notice of t%e occurrence of a Listed Event
shall be captioned "Notice of Listed Event" and shall be filed in electronic format as prescribed by the
MSRB and shall be accompanied by identifying information as prescribed by the MSRB. In the event of
a Listed Event described in subsection (a)(viii) above, the Trustee shall make the filing in a timely manner
not in excess of ten (10) business days after the occurrence of such Listed Event.

Termination of Reporting Obligation. The obligations of the Board under the Disclosure Agreement shall
terminate upon the legal defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of all of the Series 2022 Bonds.

Dissemination Agent. The Board may, from time to time, appoint or engage a Dissemination Agent to
assist it in carrying out its obligations under the Disclosure Agreement, and may discharge any such
Dissemination Agent, with or without appointing a successor Dissemination Agent. Neither the
Dissemination Agent nor the Trustee shall be responsible in any manner for the content of any notice or
report prepared by the Board pursuant to the Disclosure Agreement. If at any time there is not any other
designated Dissemination Agent, the Trustee shall be the Dissemination Agent. The initial Dissemination
Agent shall be the Trustee.

Amendment; Waiver. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Disclosure Agreement, the Board and
the Trustee may amend the Disclosure Agreement (and the Trustee shall agree to any amendment so
reC{uested by the Board), and any provision of the Disclosure Agreement may be waived, provided that the
following conditions are satisfied:

(a) If such amendment or waiver relates to the provisions requiring the filing of Annual
Reports with the MSRB by certain dates, the content of Annual Reports, or the Listed Events to be reported,
it may only be made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change in legal
requirements, change in law, or change in the identity, nature or status of an "obligated person"” %as defined
in the Rule) with respect to the Series 2022 Bonds, or the type of business conducted;

(b) The undertaking, as amended or taking into account such waiver, would, in the opinion of
nationally recognized bond counsel, have complied with the requirements of the Rule at the time of the
original issuance of the Series 2022 Bonds, after taking into account any amendments or interpretations of
the Rule, as well as any change in circumstance; and

() The amendment or waiver either (i) is approved by the Beneficial Owners in the same
manner as provided in the Indenture for amendments to the Indenture with the consent of the Beneficial
Owners, or (i1) does not, in the opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, materially impair the
interests of the Series 2022 Bondholders or the Beneficial Owners of the Series 2022 Bonds.
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In the event of any amendment or waiver of a provision of the Disclosure Agreement, the Board shall
describe such amendment or waiver in its next Annual Report, and shall include, as applicable, a narrative
explanation of the reason for the amendment or waiver and its impact on the type (or, in the case of a
change of accounting principles, on the presentation) of financial information or operating data being

resented with respect to the Board. In addition, if the amendment relates to the accounting principles to

e followed in preparing financial statements, (i) notice of such change shall be given in the same manner
as for a Listed Event, and (i1) the Annual Report for the year in which the change is made should present
a comparison (in narrative form, and also, if feasible, in quantitative form) between the financial statements
prepared on the basis of the new accounting principles and those prepared on the basis of the former
accounting principles.

Additional Information. Nothing in the Disclosure Agreement shall be deemed to prevent the Board from
disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination set forth in the Disclosure
Agreement or any other means of communication, or including any other information in any Annual
Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that which is required by the Disclosure
Agreement. If the Board chooses to include any information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence
of a Listed Event, in addition to that which is specifically required by the Disclosure Agreement, the Board
shall have no obligation under the Disclosure Agreement to update such information or include it in any
future Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event.

Default. In the event of a failure of the Board or the Dissemination Agent to comply with any provision
of the Disclosure Agreement, the Trustee may (and, at the written request of the Participating Underwriters
or the Registered Owners of at least 25% aggregate principal amount of Outstanding Series 2022 Bonds,
and upon receiving indemnification satisfactory to the Trustee, shall), or any Registered Owner or
Beneficial Owner may take such actions as may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking
mandamus or specific performance by court order, to cause the Board or the Trustee, as the case may be,
to comply with its obligations under the Disclosure Agreement. A default under the Disclosure Agreement
shall not be deemed an Event of Default under the Indenture, and the sole remedy under the Disclosure
Agreement in the event of any failure of the Board or the Dissemination Agent to comply with the
Disclosure Agreement shall be an action to compel performance.

ENFORCEABILITY OF REMEDIES

The Board is exempt from all suits under the doctrine of sovereign immunity, but agents and employees
of the Board may, by mandamus, be compelled to perform the guties of the Board under the Indenture,
including the application of the Pledged Student Fee Revenues to the payment of the Series 2022 Bonds
in accordance with the terms of the Indenture. Rights of the Registered Owners of the Series 2022 Bonds
and the enforceability of the remedies available under the Indenture may depend on judicial action and
may be subject to the valid exercise of the constitutional powers of the United States of America and of
the sovereign police powers of the State or other governmental units having jurisdiction and to the
application of federal bankruptcy laws or other debtor relief or moratorium laws in general. Therefore,
enforceability of those remedies may be delayed or limited, or the remedies may be modified or
unavailable, subject to the exercise of judicial discretion in accordance with general principles of equity.
Bond counsel expresses no opinion as to any effect upon any right, title, interest or relationsl})lip created by
or arising under the Indenture resulting from the application of state of federal bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium or similar debtor relief laws affecting creditors’ rights which are presently or
may from time to time be in effect.

TAX MATTERS

In the opinion of Friday, Eldredge & Clark, LLP, Bond Counsel, interest on the Series 2022 Bonds
under existing law is not excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes. Bond
Counsel expresses no opinion regarding other federal tax consequences arising with respect to the
Series 2022 Bonds. Prospective purchasers should consult their own tax advisor in determining the
federal tax consequences to them of the purchase, holding and disposition of the Series 2022 Bonds.
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The following is a summary of certain anticipated federal income tax consequences of the purchase,
ownership and disposition of the Series 2022 Bonds under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the "Code"), regulations and the judicial and administrative rulings and court decisions now
in effect, all of which are subject to change or possible differing interpretations. This summary does
not purport to address all aspects of federal income taxation that may affect particular investors in light
of their individual circumstances, nor certain types of investors subject to special treatment under the
federal income tax laws. This summary does not address owners that may be subject to special tax
rules, such as banks, insurance companies, dealers in securities or currencies, purchasers that hold the
Series 2022 Bonds (or foreign currency) as a hedge against currency risks or as part of a straddle with
other investments or as part of a "synthetic security”" or other integrated investment (including a
"conversion transaction") comprised of a Series 2022 Bond and one or more other investments, or
urchasers that have a "functional currency" other than the U.S. dollar. Except to the extent discussed
elow under "Foreign Investors," this summary is not applicable to non-United States persons not
subject to federal income tax on their worldwide income. This summary does not discuss the tax laws
of any state other than Arkansas or any local or foreign governments. Potential purchasers of the
Series 2022 Bonds should consult their own tax advisors in determining the federal, state or local tax
consequences to them of the purchase, holding and disposition of the Series 2022 Bonds.

General. Although there are not any regulations, published rulings, or judicial decisions
involving the characterization for federal income tax purposes of securities with terms substantially
the same as the Series 2022 Bonds, Bond Counsel has advised that the Series 2022 Bonds will be
treated for federal income tax purposes as evidences of indebtedness of the Board and not as an
ownership interest in the trust estate securing the Series 2022 Bonds or as an equity interest in the
Board or any other party, or in a separate association taxable as a corporation. Although the Series
2022 Bonds are issued by the Board, interest on the Series 2022 Bonds (including original issue
discount and market discount, if any) is not excludable from gross income for federal income tax
purposes under Code Section 103. Interest on the Series 2022 Bonds will be fully subject to federal
income taxation. Thus, owners of the Series 2022 Bonds generally must include interest (including
original issue discount and market discount) on the Series 2022 Bonds in gross income for federal
income tax purposes.

In general, interest paid on the Series 2022 Bonds, original issue discount and market discount, if any,
will be treated as ordinary income to the owners of the Series 2022 Bonds, and principal payments
(excluding the portion of such payments, if any, characterized as original issue discount and market
discount) will be treated as a return of capital.

Market Discount. An investor that acquires a Series 2022 Bond for a price less than the adjusted
issue price of such Series 2022 Bond (or an investor who purchases a Series 2022 Bond in the initial
offering at a price less than the issue price) may be subject to the market discount rules of Sections 1276
through 1278 of the Code. Under these sections and the principles applied by the regulations, "market
discount" means (i) in the case of a Series 2022 Bond originally issued at a discount, the amount by which
the issue price of such Series 2022 Bond, increased by all accrued original issue discount (as if held since
the issue date), exceeds the initial tax basis of the owner therein, less any prior payments that did not
constitute payments of qualified stated interest, and (ii) in the case of a Series 2022 Bond not originally
issued at a discount, the amount by which the stated redemption price of such Series 2022 Bond at maturity
exceeds the initial tax basis of the owner therein. Under Section 1276 of the Code, the owner of such a
Series 2022 Bond will generally be required (i) to allocate each principal payment to accrued market
discount not previously included in income and to recognize ordinary income to that extent and to treat
any gain upon sale or other disposition of such a Series 2022 Bond as ordinary income to the extent of an
remaining accrued market discount (as described at "Sale or Other Dispositions" under this caption) or (i1)
to elect to include such market discount and income currently as it accrues on all market discount
insti‘_uments acquired by such owner on or after the first day of the taxable year to which such election
applies.

The Code authorizes the Treasury Department to issue regulations providing for the method for accruing

market discount on debt instruments the principal of which is payable in more than one installment. Until
such time as regulations are issued by the Treasury Department, certain rules described in legislative
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history will apply. Under those rules, market discount will be included in income, in the case of a Series
2022 Bond with original issue discount, in proportion to the accrual of original issue discount.

An owner of a Series 2022 Bond who acquired a Series 2022 Bond at a market discount also may be
required to defer, until the maturity date ot such Series 2022 Bond or its earlier disposition in a taxable
transaction, the deduction of a portion of the amount of interest that the owner paid or accrued during the
taxable year on indebtedness incurred or maintained to purchase or carry a Series 2022 Bond in excess of
the aggregate amount of interest (including original issue discount) includable in such owner’s gross
income for the taxable year with respect to such Series 2022 Bond. The amount of such net interest expense
deferred in a taxable year may not exceed the amount of market discount accrued on the Series 2022 Bond
for the days during the taxable year on which the owner held the Series 2022 Bond and, in general, would
be deductible when such market discount is includable in income. The amount of any remaining deferred
deduction to be taken into account in the taxable year in which the Series 2022 Bond matures or is disposed
of in a taxable transaction. In the case of a disposition in which gain or loss is not recognized in whole or
in part, any remaining deferred deduction will be allowed to the extent gain is recognized on the
disposition. This deferral rule does not apply if the owner elects to include such market discount in income
cllllrrenft‘ly as it accrues on all market discount obligations acquired by such owner in that taxable year or
thereafter.

Attention is called to the fact that Treasury regulations implementing the market discount rules have not
yet been issued. Therefore, investors should consult their own tax advisors regarding the application of
these rules as well as the advisability of making any of the elections with respect thereto.

Sales or Other Dispositions. 1f a Series 2022 Bond is sold, redeemed prior to maturity or
otherwise disposed of in a taxable transaction, gain or loss will be recognized in an amount equal to
the difference between the amount realized on the sale or other disposition, and the adjusted basis of
the transferor in the Series 2022 Bond. The adjusted basis of a Series 2022 Bond generally will be
equal to its costs, increased by any original issue discount or market discount included in the gross
income of the transferor with respect to the Series 2022 Bond and reduced by any amortized bond
premium under Section 171 of the Code and by the payments on the Series 2022 Bond (other than
payments of qualified stated interest), if any, tﬁat have previously been received by the transferor.
Except as provided in Section 582(c) of the Code, relating to certain financial institutions, or as
discussed in the following paragraph, any such gain or loss will be a capital gain or loss taxable at the
applicaible rate determined by the Code 1f the Series 2022 Bond to which it is attributable is held as a
"capital asset."

Gain on the sale or other disposition of a Series 2022 Bond that was acquired at a market discount will
be taxable as ordinary income in an amount not exceeding the portion of such discount that accrued
during the period that the Series 2022 Bond was held by the transferor (after reduction by any market
discount includable in income by such transferor in accordance with the rules described above under
"Market Discount"). In addition, if the Board is determined (pursuant to regulations that have yet to
be promulgated under Code Section 1271(g)(2)(A)) to have had an intention on the date of original
issuance 0% the Series 2022 Bonds to call all or a portion of the Series 2022 Bonds prior to maturity,
then gain on the sale or other disposition of a Series 2022 Bond in an amount equal to the original
issue discount or market discount not Ereviously includable in gross income would be required to be
treated as ordinary income taxable at the applicable rate determined by the Code.

Backup Withholding. Payments of principal and interest (including original issue discount and
market discount) on the Series 2022 Bonds, as well as payments of proceeds from the sale of the Series
2022 Bonds may be subject to the "backup withholding tax" under Section 3406 of the Code with
respect to interest or original issue discount and market discount on the Series 2022 Bonds if recipients
of such payments (other than foreign investors who have properly provided certifications described
below) fail to furnish to the payor certain information, including their taxpayer identification numbers,
or otherwise fail to establisﬁ) an exemption from such tax. Any amounts deducted and withheld from
a payment to a recipient would be allowed as a credit against the federal income tax of such recipient.
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Foreign Investors. An owner of a Series 2022 Bond that is not a "United States person" (as
defined below) and is not subject to federal income tax as a result of any direct or indirect connection
to the United States of America in addition to its ownership of a Series 2022 Bond will generally not
be subject to United States income or withholding tax in respect of a payment on a Series 2022 Bond,
provided that the owner complies to the extent necessary with certain identification requirements
(including delivery of a statement, signed by the owner under penalties of perjury, certifying that such
owner is not a United States person and providing the name and address of such owner). For this
purpose the term "United States person" means a citizen or resident of the United States, a corporation,
partnership or other entity created or organized in or under the laws of the United States of America
or any political subdivision thereof, or an estate or trust whose income from sources within the United
States 1s includable in gross income for United States of America income tax purposes regardless of
its connection with the conduct of a trade or business within the United States of America.

Except as explained in the preceding paragraph and subject to the provisions of any applicable tax
treaty, a United States withholding tax will apply to interest paid and original issue discount and
market discount on the Series 2022 Bonds owned by foreign investors. In those instances in which
payments of interest on the Series 2022 Bonds continue to be subject to withholding, special rules
apply with respect to the withholding of tax on payments of interest on, or the sale or exchange of the
Series 2022 Bonds having original 1ssue discount or market discount and held by foreign investors.
Potential investors that are foreign persons should consult their own tax advisors regarding the specific
tax consequences to them of owning a Series 2022 Bond.

ERISA Considerations. The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended
("ERISA"), and the Code generally prohibit certain transactions between a qualified employee benefit
plan under ERISA (an "ERISA Plan") and persons who, with respect to that plan, are fiduciaries or
other "parties in interest" within the meaning of ERISA or "disqualified persons" within the meaning
of the Code. In the absence of an applicable statutory, class or administrative exemption, transactions
between an ERISA Plan and a party in interest with respect to an ERISA Plan, including the acquisition
by one from the other of a Series 2022 Bond, could be viewed as violating those prohibitions. In
addition, Code Section 4975 prohibits transactions between certain tax-favored vehicles such as
Individual Retirement Accounts and disqualified persons and Code Section 503 includes similar
restrictions with respect to governmental and church plans. In this regard, the Board or any
underwriter of the Series 2022 Bonds, might be considered or might become a "party in interest" within
the meaning of ERISA or a "disqualified person" within the meaning of the Code, with respect to an
ERISA Plan or a plan or arrangement subject to Code Sections 4975 or 503. Prohibited transactions
within the meaning of ERISA and the Code may arise if the Series 2022 Bonds are acquired by such
plans or arrangements with respect to which the Board or any underwriter is a party in interest or
disqualified person. In all events, fiduciaries of ERISA Plans and plans or arrangements subject to the
above Code Sections, in consultation with their advisors, should carefully consider the impact of
ERISA and the Code on an investment in the Series 2022 Bonds.

In the further opinion of Bond Counsel, under existing laws, interest on the Series 2022 Bonds is
exempt from all Arkansas state, county and municipal taxation.

LEGAL

Issuance of the Series 2022 Bonds is subject to the approving opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect
that the Series 2022 Bonds are valid obligations of the Board in accordance with their terms.

Enforcement of the remedies available under the Indenture may depend on judicial action and may be
subject to the application of federal bankruptcy laws or other debtor relief or moratorium laws.
Therefore, enforcement of those remedies may be delayed or limited, or the remedies may be modified
or unavailable. Bond Counsel will express no opinion as to may effect upon any right, title, interest
or relationship created by or arising under either Indenture resulting from the application of state or
federal bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar debtor relief laws affecting
creditors’ rights which are presently or may from time to time be in effect.
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No litigation is pending, or to the knowledge of the Board threatened, an adverse decision in which
would affect the validity of the Series 2022 Bonds or materially affect the security for the Series 2022
Bonds.

RATING

Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. ("Moody's") has assigned a rating of "A1" (stable outlook) to the
Series 2022 Bonds. The rating reflects only the views of Moody’s. An explanation of the significance
of the rating may be obtained from Moody’s. There is no assurance that such rating will continue for
any given period of time or that it will not be revised downward or withdrawn entirely by Moody’s,
if, in the judgment of Moody’s, circumstances so warrant. Any such downward revision or withdrawal
of the rating may have an adverse effect on the market price of the Series 2022 Bonds. The
Underwriters and the Board have undertaken no responsibility after issuance of the Series 2022 Bonds
to assure the maintenance of the rating or to oppose any such revision or withdrawal. No application
has been made to any rating agency other than Moody’s for a rating on the Series 2022 Bonds.

UNDERWRITING

The Underwriters listed on the cover page of this Official Statement (the "Underwriters") are
purchasing the Series 2022 Bonds at a price equal to $12,829,070.80 (principal amount less original
1ssue discount of $68,794.20 less Underwriters' discount of $117,135).

The Underwriters are offering the Series 2022 Bonds to the public initially at the yields set forth on
the inside front cover page of this Official Statement, which may subsequently change without any
requirement of prior notice. The Underwriters reserve the right to join with dealers and other
underwriters in offering the Series 2022 Bonds to the public. The Underwriters may offer and sell
Series 2022 Bonds to certain dealers (including dealers depositing Series 2022 Bonds into investment
trusts) at prices lower than the public offering price.

MISCELLANEOUS

Any statements made in this Official Statement involving matters of opinion or of estimates, whether
or not so expressly stated, are set forth as such and not as representations of fact, and no representation
is made that any of the estimates will be realized. This Official Statement is not to be construed as a
cont(riact or agreement between the Board and the purchasers or owners of any of the Series 2022
Bonds.

The information contained in this Official Statement has been taken from sources considered to be
reliable, but it is not guaranteed. To the best of the knowledge of the undersigned, the Official
Statement does not include any untrue statement of a material fact, nor does it omit the statement of
any material fact required to be stated therein, or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of
the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE ARKANSAS
STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM

By /s/ Charles L. Welch
President
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Arkansas State University System
Legislative Joint Auditing Committee

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities and the aggregate discretely presented
component units of the Arkansas State University System (University), an institution of higher education of the State of Arkansas,
as of and for the year ended June 30, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
University’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not audit the financial statements
of the Arkansas State University System Foundation, Inc., the Arkansas State University Red Wolves Foundation, Inc., and the
Henderson State University Foundation, Inc., which represents 100% of the assets and revenues of the aggregate discretely
presented component units. Those statements were audited by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us, and our
opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for the Arkansas State University System Foundation, Inc., the Arkansas
State University Red Wolves Foundation, Inc., and the Henderson State University Foundation, Inc., is based solely on the reports
of the other auditors. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. The financial statements of the Arkansas State University
System Foundation, Inc., the Arkansas State University Red Wolves Foundation, Inc., and the Henderson State University
Foundation, Inc. were not audited in accordance with Government Auditing Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.
Opinions

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the respective financial position of the business-type activities and the aggregate discretely presented

component units of the University as of June 30, 2021, and the respective changes in financial position, and where applicable,
cash flows thereof for the year ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
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Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 20 to the financial statements, in 2021 the College adopted new accounting guidance, Governmental
Accounting Standards Board Statement no. 84, Fiduciary Activities. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management'’s Discussion and Analysis,
certain information pertaining to postemployment benefits other than pensions, and certain information pertaining to pensions on
pages 7-29, 121-124, and 125-130 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a
part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about
the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to
our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us
with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the University’s
basic financial statements. The Schedule of Selected Information for the Last Five Years (Schedule 1), the Statement of Net
Position by Campus (Schedule 2), the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position by Campus (Schedule 3),
the Statement of Cash Flows by Campus (Schedule 4), the Statement of Fiduciary Net Position by Campus (Schedule 5), and the
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position by Campus (Schedule 6) are presented for purposes of additional analysis and
are not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The Statement of Net Position by Campus, the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position by Campus, the
Statement of Cash Flows by Campus, the Statement of Fiduciary Net Position by Campus, and the Statement of Changes in
Fiduciary Net Position by Campus are the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements
or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the Statement of Net Position by Campus, the Statement of Revenues,
Expenses, and Changes in Net Position by Campus, the Statement of Cash Flows by Campus, the Statement of Fiduciary Net
Position by Campus, and the Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position by Campus are fairly stated, in all material respects,
in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

The Schedule of Selected Information for the Last Five Years has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the
audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated November 16, 2021 on our
consideration of the University’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions
of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope
of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion
on the effectiveness of the University’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of
an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the University’s internal control over
financial reporting and compliance.
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REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER
MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

Arkansas State University System
Legislative Joint Auditing Committee

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards
applicable to the financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the
United States, the financial statements of the business-type activities and the aggregate discretely presented component units of
the Arkansas State University System (University), an institution of higher education of the State of Arkansas, as of and for the
year ended June 30, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the University’s basic
financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated November 16, 2021. Our report includes a reference to other
auditors who audited the financial statements of the Arkansas State University System Foundation, Inc., the Arkansas State
University Red Wolves Foundation, Inc., and the Henderson State University Foundation, Inc., as described in our report on the
University’s financial statements. The financial statements of the Arkansas State University System Foundation, Inc., the Arkansas
State University Red Wolves Foundation, Inc., and the Henderson State University Foundation, Inc. were not audited in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards, and accordingly, this report does not include reporting on internal control over
financial reporting or compliance and other matters associated with the Arkansas State University System Foundation, Inc., the
Arkansas State University Red Wolves Foundation, Inc., and the Henderson State University Foundation, Inc. or that are reported
on separately by those auditors who audited the financial statements of the Arkansas State University System Foundation, Inc.,
the Arkansas State University Red Wolves Foundation, Inc., and the Henderson State University Foundation, Inc.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the University’s internal control over financial
reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of
expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
University’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the
normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material
weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of the University’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.
A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material
weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was not
designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore,
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that have not been identified. Given these limitations, during our audit
we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. We did identify certain
deficiencies in internal control, described below in the Audit Findings section of this report that we consider to be significant
deficiencies.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the University’s financial statements are free from material misstatement,
we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of the state constitution, state laws and regulations, contracts, and
grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements. However,
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express
such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported
under Government Auditing Standards.
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We noted certain matters that we reported to management of the University in a separate letter dated November 16, 2021.
AUDIT FINDINGS

Significant Deficiency

The Henderson State University internal control system did not detect or prevent significant misstatements in the financial
statements. Key errors are listed below:

Statement of Cash Flows

e Purchases of capital assets were overstated by $2,574,465, primarily due to inclusion of donated capital assets and other
non-cash transactions.

Student tuition and fees were understated by $2,119,497 due to misclassifications.

Grants and contracts were overstated by $1,481,945 due to misclassifications.

Capital gift and grants were overstated by $1,329,311 due to inclusion of donated capital assets.

State appropriations were understated by $963,268 due to misclassifications.

Payments to suppliers were understated by $419,642 due to misclassifications.

Payments for employee benefits were understated by $274,763 due to misclassifications.

e Payments to debt holders for loan principal were overstated by $250,000 due to inclusion of a non-cash transaction.

Notes to the Financial Statements

e The amounts reported in the Capital Asset note did not agree with the University’s subsidiary ledger. “Improvements and
infrastructure” was overstated by $789,076, and “Buildings” was understated by the same amount.

e The amounts reported in the Receivable and Payable Balances note for vendor payables, due to students, salaries and
other payroll-related items, and miscellaneous contained misclassifications totaling $431,150.

The financial statements, for the above misstatements, were corrected by University personnel during the audit.
We recommend the University review internal controls to ensure the accuracy of financial statements.

Management Response: The University transitioned to a new common ERP system on July 1, 2021 and will ensure that
balances are loaded properly into the new financial system. Additional training and oversight will be provided to ensure
proper classification. Merging Henderson into the ASU System consolidated financial statements and notes has been
completed with this audit and has laid the groundwork for future audits.

University’s Response to Findings

The University’s response to the finding identified in our audit, excluding the management letter findings, is described previously.
The University’s response was not subjected to the audit procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and,
accordingly, we express no opinion on it.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results of that
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the University’s internal
control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.
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MANAGEMENT LETTER

Arkansas State University System
Legislative Joint Auditing Committee

We would like to communicate the following items that came to our attention during this audit. The purpose of such comments is
to provide constructive feedback and guidance, in an effort to assist management to maintain a satisfactory level of compliance
with the state constitution, laws and regulations, and to improve internal control. These matters were discussed previously with
University officials during the course of our audit fieldwork and at the exit conference.

Arkansas State University System (System)

Henderson State University campus did not complete and submit campus-level financial statements to the System office
timely. Based on the deadlines established by System administration, the campus was to provide financial statements and notes
to the System office by August 16, 2021. As aresult, the System office was unable to provide the consolidated report to Arkansas
Legislative Audit (ALA) staff by the originally scheduled date of October 8, 2021, which delayed the audit process. The System
office provided the consolidated report to ALA on November 2, 2021.

Arkansas State University — Joneshoro

A review of issues reported to the Arkansas State University — Jonesboro Human Resource Department revealed $4,198 in salary
overpayments:

e  $3,500 overpaid to a non-classified employee to teach courses that were subsequently cancelled due to lack of
student enrollment. Through payroll deductions, the University will recoup the full overpayment amount as of
November 30, 2021.

e  $698 overpaid to a classified employee due to inaccurate recording of time worked. The University deducted the
excess hours paid from the employee’s annual leave and terminated employment on August 31, 2021.

Arkansas State University — Mid-South

Due to an issue reported to the Arkansas State University System Internal Audit (IA), the IA Department examined a part-time
employee’s payroll records for the period January 1, 2017 through October 10, 2020. This examination revealed that the employee
was overpaid wages and payroll taxes totaling $4,800 due to over reporting of time worked. The employee resigned on March
8, 2021. (As of November 16, 2021, the University had not received reimbursement.)

Henderson State University

In July 2021, the University discovered that the former acting President was paid $32,010 in excess of her contracted salary from
August 2020 to June 2021 when she took her current position (General Counsel/Chief Compliance Officer) and the University
failed to adjust her salary accordingly. She reimbursed the University on August 11, 2021.
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STUDENT ENROLLMENT DATA — In accordance with Ark. Code Ann. § 6-60-209, we performed tests of the student enrollment
data for the year ended June 30, 2021, as reported to the Arkansas Division of Higher Education, to provide reasonable assurance
that the data was properly reported. The enrollment data reported was as follows:

Summer |l Term Fall Term Spring Term Summer | Term
2020 2020 2021 2021
Student Headcount 8,136 24,908 22,755 10,119
Student Semester
Credit Hours 33,539 244,451 219,014 49,630

During our review, nothing came to our attention that would cause us to believe that the student enrollment data was not
substantially correct.

This letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Joint Auditing Committee, the governing board, University
management, state executive and oversight management, and other parties as required by Arkansas Code, and is not intended
to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. However, pursuant to Ark. Code Ann. § 10-4-417, all
reports presented to the Legislative Joint Auditing Committee are matters of public record and distribution is not limited.

ARKANSAS LEGISLATIVE AUDIT
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Matt Fink, CPA
Deputy Legislative Auditor

Little Rock, Arkansas
November 16, 2021



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED)

Financial Statement Presentation

This section of the Arkansas State University (The University) annual financial report presents discussion and analysis
of the University's financial performance during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. This discussion and analysis is
prepared by the University's financial administrators and is intended to provide information on the financial activities
of the University that is both relevant and easily understandable. Information is also provided on the University's
financial position as of June 30, 2020 as further explanation of the results of the year's financial activities. As shown
in the information that follows, the overall financial position of the University has remained stable during the fiscal
year.

The statements have been prepared using the format specified in Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB)
Statements no. 34 and 35. GASB Statement no. 34 does not require the presentation of comparative information from
the previous fiscal year but does require a discussion of any significant changes in the University's financial position
or the results of its operations.

In June 2011, the GASB issued Statement no. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred
Inflows of Resources, and Net Position. This statement provides financial reporting guidance for deferred outflows
of resources and deferred inflows of resources. The use of net position as the residual of all other elements presented
in a statement of financial position has also been identified. This statement amends the net asset reporting requirement
in GASB Statement no. 34 and other pronouncements by incorporating deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources into the definitions of the required components of the residual measure and by renaming that
measure as net position, rather than net assets.

In March 2012, the GASB issued Statement no. 65, Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities. This
statement is related to Statement no. 63 in that it establishes accounting and financial reporting standards that
reclassify, as deferred outflows of resources or deferred inflows of resources, certain items that were previously
reported as assets and liabilities and recognizes, as outflows of resources or inflows of resources, certain items that
were previously reported as assets and liabilities.

In June 2012, the GASB issued Statement no. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions. The primary
objective of this Statement is to improve accounting and financial reporting by state and local governments for
pensions. It also improves information provided by state and local governmental employers about financial support
for pensions that is provided by other entities.

In June 2015, the GASB issued Statement no. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits
Other Than Pensions. This Statement revises existing standards for measuring and reporting retiree benefits provided
by the University to its employees.

In March 2016, the GASB issued Statement no. 81, Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements. The statement improves
accounting and financial reporting for irrevocable split-interest agreements by providing recognition and measurement
guidance in which a government is a beneficiary of the agreement.

In January 2017, the GASB issued Statement no. 84, Fiduciary Activities. This Statement established criteria for
identifying fiduciary activities of all state and local governments. The focus of the criteria generally is on (1) whether
a government is controlling the assets of the fiduciary activity and (2) the beneficiaries with whom fiduciary
relationship exists.

In May 2020, the GASB issued Statement no. 95, Postponement of the Effective Dates of Certain Authoritative
Guidance. This Statement postpones the following Statement that is relevant to the University due to the COVID-19
pandemic: Statement no. 87, Leases.



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED)

Financial Statement Presentation (Continued)

The University's financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2021 have been audited and Arkansas Legislative
Audit has rendered the audit opinion contained herein. In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board
requirements this analysis includes a discussion of the significant changes between the two fiscal years ended June 30,
2021 and 2020 where appropriate. Due to the merger of Henderson State University (HSU) into the Arkansas State
University System, the 2020 comparative amounts are shown separately for Arkansas State University and Henderson
State University. The 2020 comparative amounts have been adjusted for the merger to provide a more complete
comparison of the two years. Additional information about the merger may be found in Note 21.

Statement Discussion

Statement of Net Position

The Statement of Net Position is intended to display the financial position of the University. Its purpose is to present
to the reader of the financial statements a benchmark from which to analyze the financial stability of the University.
It is a "snapshot" of the University's assets, liabilities, deferred inflows, deferred outflows, and net position (assets and
deferred outflows minus liabilities and deferred inflows) as of June 30, 2021, the last day of the fiscal year. Assets
and liabilities are presented in two categories: current and noncurrent. Net position is presented in three categories:
net investment in capital assets, restricted net position, and unrestricted net position. Restricted net position is divided
into two categories: nonexpendable and expendable. A more detailed explanation of these categories is found in the
notes that accompany the financial statements. A condensed version of the Statement of Net Position is displayed on
the following page.

Readers of the Statement of Net Position can determine answers to the following key questions as of June 30, 2021:
¢ Did the University have sufficient assets available to meet its existing obligations and continue operations?
e How much did the University owe to external parties including vendors and lending institutions?

e What resources did the University have available to make future investments and expenditures?

Condensed Statement of Net Position
Increase/ Percent

2021 2020 Revised 2020 HSU 2020 ASU (Decrease) Change
Assets and Deferred Outflows:
Current Assets $ 146,704,492 $ 124,470,849 $ 13,091,825 $111,379,024 S 22,233,643 17.86%
Capital Assets, net 551,523,175 558,262,096 107,210,686 451,051,410 (6,738,921) (1.21%)
Other Noncurrent Assets 138,413,742 118,825,348 2,480,977 116,344,371 19,588,394 16.49%
Total Assets 836,641,409 " 801,558,293 122,783,488 678,774,805 " 35,083,116 4.38%
Deferred Outflows 15,112,256 13,369,504 1,910,583 11,458,921 1,742,752 13.04%
Total Assets and Deferred Outflows $ 851,753,665 $ 814,927,797 $ 124,694,071 $ 690,233,726 S 36,825,868 4.52%
Liabilities and Deferred Inflows:
Current Liabilities $ 65,489,814 S 54,945,016 $ 11,734,091 S 43,210,925 $ 10,544,798 19.19%
Noncurrent Liabilities 311,201,237 331,433,993 91,233,879 240,200,114 (20,232,756) (6.10%)
Total Liabilities 376,691,051 " 386,379,009 102,967,970 283,411,039 " (9,687,958) (2.51%)
Deferred Inflows 21,375,123 18,815,633 1,951,192 16,864,441 2,559,490 13.60%
Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows 398,066,174 405,194,642 104,919,162 300,275,480 (7,128,468) (1.76%)
Net Position:
Net Investment in Capital Assets 284,429,128 281,324,518 34,372,244 246,952,274 3,104,610 1.10%
Restricted, Nonexpendable 19,579,467 16,442,426 - 16,442,426 3,137,041 19.08%
Restricted, Expendable 7,755,610 10,309,939 740,647 9,569,292 (2,554,329) (24.78%)
Unrestricted 141,923,286 101,656,272 (15,337,982) 116,994,254 40,267,014 39.61%
Total Net Position 453,687,491 409,733,155 19,774,909 389,958,246 43,954,336 10.73%
Total Liabilities and Net Position $ 851,753,665 $ 814,927,797 $ 124,694,071 $ 690,233,726 S 36,825,868 4.52%




MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED)

Statement of Net Position (Continued)

Assets and Deferred Outflows
Total assets and deferred outflows increased by $36.8 million.

Current Assets
Current assets increased by $22.2 million.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents increased by approximately $23.9 million. All campuses had increases for the year except
for Mountain Home which had a small decrease of approximately $500,000. All campuses benefitted from receiving
federal Higher Education Emergency Relief Funds (HEERF I/HEERF II/HEERF III). Additional information about
HEERF can be found in the details that follow. The Jonesboro campus had a significant increase of $15 million. This
increase of cash in unrestricted funds was mainly due to lower spending during the year. Beebe’s $5.2 million increase
was largely a result of certificate of deposits that were converted to cash. Mid-South had an increase of $1.2 million,
primarily from the timing of their Pell drawdowns at the end of the year. Newport had an increase in the amount of
$2.3 million. Henderson State University and Three Rivers had small increases of roughly $300,000 and $400,000,
respectively.

Short-term Investments

Short-term investments decreased by $1.5 million. Mountain Home renewed certificate of deposits totaling $1.7
million with a two year maturity. These are now considered long-term investments. Beebe had a slight increase of
approximately $200,000. There were no changes at the other campuses.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable increased slightly by approximately $945,000; although only two campuses had increases. Gross
receivables increased by $2.1 million. The Jonesboro campus’s increase of $3.6 million was largely due to recording
HEEREF III funds of approximately $13.2 million and state treasury funds of $3.8 million released at the end of the
fiscal year. In addition to this, the campus also received federal direct lending funds of $9 million which was recorded
as a receivable in 2020. Three Rivers also showed an increase due to their recording of approximately $700,000 in
HEEREF III funds. Henderson State University had a $1.5 million decrease as of result of writing off uncollectible
accounts receivable. Mountain Home’s and Newport’s declines were the result of receiving their HEERF I funds that
were recorded in 2020 in 2021. The Mid-South campus’s decrease of $400,000 was a result of lower Federal Pell
Grants receivable at the end of 2021. The Beebe campus had a minimal decrease in accounts receivable due to lower
enrollment. The campuses are continuing to monitor the accounts receivable balances and have increased collection
activities. This has proven to be an effective method as accounts receivables balances are closely monitored and the
allowance for doubtful accounts methodology is reviewed and revised. Overall, allowance for doubtful accounts
increased by about $1.2 million. Henderson State University, Beebe, and Mountain Home all had increases. These
increases were based on reviewing the aged accounts receivable and concluding a larger allowance is necessary. Of
the remaining campuses, Mid-South and Three Rivers had the largest decreases of $440,000 due to writing off older
balances. The other campuses had slight decreases due to a decrease of accounts receivable balances.

Inventories

Inventories decreased by $396,000. Of the campuses with inventories, four had decreases and two had
increases. Jonesboro had the largest change with a decrease of $308,000. This was from a reduction of Information
and Technology Services’ inventory. In preparation of Beebe’s bookstores being privatized beginning July 1, 2021,
they depleted bookstore inventories, resulting in a decrease of $66,000. Henderson State University and Newport had
small decreases in the amounts of $2,000 and $30,000, respectively. Mid-South and Three Rivers both had slight
increases during the year.

Deposits with Trustees

Deposits with trustees decreased by $850,000. All of the campuses, other than Mid-South, had decreases. Mid-
South’s slight increase is due to their bond agreements. Henderson State University accounted for nearly all the
decrease due to their completion of an energy savings project. Jonesboro had a decrease of around $5,000 due to a
bond refunding and the elimination of three debt service reserve funds for the refunded issue. Additional information
on the bond refunding may be found in Note 5. The remaining campuses, other than Three Rivers and Mountain
Home, had slight decreases. Three Rivers does not have bonds issued and had no deposits with trustees.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED)

Statement of Net Position (Continued)

Current Assets (Continued)

Prepaid Expenses
Prepaid expenses increased by $52,000. The greatest change was the increase at Newport of $95,000. This was the

result of maintenance agreements that were paid for before the end of fiscal year 2021 that were associated with new
computer systems and software. Mid-South had an increase of $27,000 from a payment that was submitted to the
Arkansas Department of Finance and Administration for a vehicle purchase. Mountain Home also had an increase of
$17,000 due to a rise in the amounts paid in fiscal year 2021 for fiscal year 2022 expenses. Of the three campuses
that had decreases, the largest decline was at Three Rivers in the amount of $68,000. Three Rivers’ prior year prepaid
expenses included $55,000 for Ellucian support, but they did not have this type of prepaid expense at the end of fiscal
year 2021. Beebe had a decrease of $14,000 due to a reduction in prepaid postage. The Jonesboro campus had a small
decrease during the year. Henderson State University did not have any prepaid expenses.

Capital Assets, net

Capital assets, net decreased by $6.7 million. Accumulated depreciation increased from $563,142,234 in 2020 to
$590,881,018 in 2021. This increase, of approximately $31.5 million, is due to the recording of one additional year
of depreciation for assets that have already been depreciating. Additionally, there was new equipment, new buildings,
renovations to buildings, and other improvements/infrastructure that were added in 2020 and began depreciating in
2021. The increase in accumulated depreciation was offset by the addition of $24.9 million in capital assets and the
retirement of $3.9 million in capital assets with accumulated depreciation of $3.7 million. Ofthe $24.9 million added
to capital assets, $10.3 million was buildings, $6.5 million was construction in progress, $450,000 was improvements
and infrastructure, $3.7 million was equipment, and 2.3 million was intangibles related to software in development.
Additional information about capital assets may be found in the ‘Capital Assets’ section of this Management’s
Discussion and Analysis.

Other Noncurrent Assets
Other noncurrent assets increased by $19.6 million.

Noncurrent Cash

Noncurrent cash increased by $17.8 million and restricted cash increased by $920,000. The Jonesboro and Mountain
Home campuses are the only ones to have a noncurrent cash balance. Jonesboro’s increase in noncurrent cash of
$16.5 million was the result of additional cash transfers to unexpended plant funds and the accounts receivable related
to HEERF and State Treasury, as previously mentioned in the Accounts Receivable section. The annual increase of
noncurrent cash by the campus is a strategic effort to increase the University’s reserves. Mountain Home had an
increase of $1.3 million. This change was from lost revenues recovered through HEERF funding that was transferred
to plant funds. The Jonesboro and Mid-South campuses are the only ones with a noncurrent restricted cash
balance. The greatest change was Mid-South’s increase of $1.4 million. Mid-South had increases for the receipt of
restricted cash from their excess millage during fiscal year 2021 and recoveries of lost revenue from CARES
funds. Jonesboro’s decrease of $480,000 was due to a decrease in cash in loan funds from returns of part of the federal
capital contribution related to the Federal Perkins Loan Program.

Endowment Investments

Endowment investments increased by $3.3 million. The majority of this increase was due to Jonesboro’s $3.1 million
market value adjustment for endowment funds. The remaining difference was from an increase in the return rate of
Beebe’s investments compared to previous years. The other campuses did not have endowment investments.

Other Long-term Investments

Other long-term investments decreased by $2 million. Mountain Home was the only campus with an increase. This
was due to renewing certificate of deposits totaling $1.7 million with a two year maturity. These were previously
considered short-term investments. Jonesboro, Beebe, and Mid-South all had decreases. As investments are maturing
at the Jonesboro campus, new investments are not being purchased. There is a strategic change to move from
investments to cash. There was a decrease of $1.3 million for the year. Beebe’s decrease of $1.9 million is a result
of moving from long-term to short-term investments. Mid-South had a small decrease of approximately $500,000.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED)

Statement of Net Position (Continued)

Other Noncurrent Assets (Continued)

Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreement

The Jonesboro campus implemented GASB no. 81, Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements, which was effective July 1,
2017. There was an increase of roughly $68,000 during fiscal year 2021 as the trustee re-appraised the value of the
asset.

Deposits with Trustees

Deposits with trustees decreased by $2.1 million. Henderson State University’s decrease of $1.3 million was a result
of completion of an energy savings project. The Jonesboro campus’s decrease of $900,000 was primarily due to the
elimination of three debt service reserve funds related to the bond refunding issue. Additional information on the
bond refunding may be found in Note 5. Mid-South’s increase for the year was due to their bond agreements.

Deferred Outflows

Deferred outflows increased by approximately $1.7 million. Roughly $1.6 million of this increase was due to an
increased amount of deferred outflows related to pensions. All of the campuses had increases due to the adjustment
of deferred outflows related to pensions for the 2021 fiscal year. Additional information about the deferred outflows
related to pensions may be found in Note 8 and the Required Supplementary Information. Deferred outflows related
to other postemployment benefits (OPEB) increased slightly by about $170,000. Although all but one of the campuses
had decreases; Henderson State University’s increase was substantial when compared to the others. Their increase
was approximately $780,000. Additional information about the deferred outflows related to OPEB may be found in
Note 12 and the Required Supplementary Information. Deferred outflows related to the excess of bond reacquisition
costs over carrying value decreased by $40,000. All the campuses, other than Jonesboro, had decreases due to the
amortization of these amounts. Jonesboro recorded an additional amount for their bond refunding issue. Additional
information about the bond issue may be found in the Debt Administration section of this Management’s Discussion
and Analysis and Note 5.

Liabilities and Deferred Inflows
Total liabilities and deferred inflows decreased by $7.1 million.

Current Liabilities
Current liabilities increased by $10.5 million.

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities increased by roughly $10 million. Jonesboro had a substantial increase of
approximately $9.8 million. This increase was primarily from a payable due to the United States Department of
Education for direct lending. Henderson State University saw an increase of about $700,000. Newport also had a
slight increase; while Beebe, Mid-South, Mountain Home, and Three Rivers all had small decreases. Some campuses
made the decision to pay as many invoices as possible prior to June 30, 2021, since they were converting to the Banner
ERP system on July 1, 2021. This caused a reduction in accounts payable.

Bonds, Notes, and Leases Payable

Bonds, notes, and leases payable increased slightly by $506,000. There was a mix of increases and decreases among
the campuses. There was no additional debt issued during the fiscal year; however Jonesboro did have a bond
refunding issue and paid off one bond and one note early. The increases for each campus are due to the additional
amount of principal payments due in 2022 compared to 2021.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED)

Statement of Net Position (Continued)

Current Liabilities (Continued)

Unearned Revenues

Unearned revenues increased by $3.4 million. All campuses had increases for the year except for Henderson State
University which had a decrease of approximately $250,000. This was largely due to unearned revenue from HEERF
I that was recorded in fiscal year 2020. Jonesboro had the largest increase in the amount of $3.1 million which was
the result of activity in several different areas. Athletics saw a rise in football and basketball tickets sold for the new
fiscal year, and the First National Bank Arena also had more tickets sold for upcoming concerts and shows for fiscal
year 2022. There will be renovations to Agriculture’s Meat Lab through a grant where funds have been received, but
the work has not been completed yet. Furthermore, there are other grant awards received in full prior to the spending
of the total grant award. As expenses are posted to the grant award, revenue is recognized equal to the amount of the
expenses. Mid-South, Mountain Home, and Three Rivers also had increases related to grants in the amounts of
$200,000, $80,000, and $200,000, respectively. The remaining amount of the upturn in unearned revenue was related
to tuition and fees.

Deposits

Deposits decreased by $55,000, although Jonesboro was the only campus with a decrease which was roughly
$115,000. This was mainly due to a decline in student enrollment. Newport allowed more students to use excess
funds to prepay summer and fall semesters which resulted in an increase of $60,000. Beebe had a slight increase due
to property rentals, and Mid-South also had a slight increase.

Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) Liability

The current portion of this liability, a reduction of about $231,000, was recorded during the year in accordance with
GASB no. 75. The current portion of this total liability represents the amount that is the expected employer
contributions for fiscal year 2022. Additional information about OPEB may be found in Note 12 and the Required
Supplementary Information.

Noncurrent Liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities decreased by $20.2 million.

Bonds, Notes, and Leases Payable

Bonds, notes and leases payable decreased by $19.6 million. All campuses had decreases when compared to 2020.
The decrease is a reflection of the reduction of principal amounts owed by all the campuses for bonds, notes, and
leases payable. As previously mentioned, there was no additional debt issued during the fiscal year; however
Jonesboro did have a bond refunding issue and paid off one bond and one note early.

Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) Liability
The noncurrent portion of this liability decreased by about $4.4 million and was recorded during the year in accordance
with GASB no. 75. Additional information about OPEB may be found below in the deferred inflows section, in Note
12 and the Required Supplementary Information.

Net Pension Liability

The University’s portion of the net pension liability increased by around $3.2 million. These amounts were recorded
in accordance with GASB no. 68. Additional information about the net pension liability may be found in Note 8 as
well as the Required Supplementary Information.

Deferred Inflows

Deferred inflows increased by $2.6 million. Nearly all of this increase, $3.8 million, was the amount related to other
postemployment benefits. This amount is recorded in accordance with GASB no. 75 and as mentioned previously,
the campuses recorded a large decrease of $4.4 million related to the noncurrent liability portion of OPEB. The overall
effect of recording the OPEB amounts showed a decrease of about $937,000. In addition to OPEB, there was a $1.3
million decrease for pensions which was recognized in fiscal year 2020 in accordance with GASB no. 68. The deferred
inflows are recorded in conjunction with the deferred outflows and net pension liability discussed previously. The
remaining minimal increase of $68,000 was recorded as part of the irrevocable split-interest agreement at the
Jonesboro campus as previously mentioned in the Noncurrent Asset section.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED)

Statement of Net Position (Continued)

Net Position
Total net position increased by $43.9 million. The percentage of each net position category is displayed in the chart
below.

2021 Net Position - $453,687,491

M Net Investment in
Capital Assets

M Restricted,
Nonexpendable

M Restricted,
Expendable

W Unrestricted

Net investment in capital assets

Net investment in capital assets increased by $3.1 million. This increase was mainly attributable to reduction of long-
term debt associated with capital projects. The amount of depreciation exceeded the amount of capital asset additions.
In previous years, there have been large increases of construction projects to offset the amount of depreciation
recognized. For 2021, there was $24.9 million in capital assets additions compared to $31.4 million of depreciation
expense.

Restricted, Nonexpendable
Restricted, nonexpendable net position increased by $3.1 million.

o Scholarships and Fellowships—Restricted, nonexpendable net position for scholarships and fellowships increased
by $1.3 million. This was due to Jonesboro and Beebe campuses’ increase in the fair value of endowment
investments held by the ASU Foundation for scholarship purposes.

® Renewal and Replacement—The Mid-South campus has restricted, nonexpendable net position for renewal and
replacement. There were no changes to the net position during the fiscal year.

o Loans—The restricted, nonexpendable net position for loans increased in the amount of approximately $251,000.
This was due to a change in the accounts receivable allowance calculation at the Jonesboro campus. The
allowance decreased which caused an increase in the net position related to the Federal Perkins Loan Program.

o Other—Restricted, nonexpendable net position for other purposes than those mentioned above increased by $1.6

million. This was due to an increase in investment earnings during the year on endowments for purposes other
than scholarships.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED)

Statement of Net Position (Continued)
Net Position (Continued)

Restricted, Expendable
Restricted, expendable net position decreased by $2.6 million.

o Scholarships and Fellowships—Restricted, expendable net position for scholarships and fellowships decreased by
$315,000. This was largely due to Beebe expending most grants as they were awarded with less carried forward
in to the new fiscal year, resulting in a decrease of $273,000. The Jonesboro campus had a small increase, while
the Mid-South and Mountain Home campuses had slight decreases.

® Research—Restricted, expendable net position for research increased by approximately $6,000. Although the
overall increase was small, two campuses had moderate swings. Jonesboro received a lower amount of research
grants, while Henderson State University experienced a growth in research. This resulted in a decrease of
$148,000 for Jonesboro and an increase of $154,000 for Henderson State University.

o Loans—The restricted, expendable net position for loans decreased slightly by about $20,000. Henderson State
University and Mid-South are the only campuses to have a restricted, expendable net position amount for loans.
Mid-South’s amount did not change compared to 2020. Henderson State University’s decrease was due to the
return of funds from the institutional portion of the Federal Perkins Loan Program. The Federal Perkins Loan
Program amounts will continue to decline with the expiration of the program on September 30, 2017.

e Debt Service—The restricted, expendable net position for other purposes than those listed above decreased very
slightly by $119. Henderson State University and Mid-South are the only campuses to have funds restricted for
debt service due to their debt structure for bonds payable.

® Renewal and Replacement—The Mid-South campus has restricted, expendable net position for renewal and
replacement. There was a decrease of about $25,000 due to the bond requirements of these funds.

o Other—The restricted, expendable net position for other purposes than those listed above decreased by $2.1 million.
Campuses, other than Beebe and Mid-South, experienced declines. Henderson State University and Three Rivers
does not have a balance for this. The decrease of about $1 million at Jonesboro and $326,000 at Newport were
related to a decrease of non-research grant activity balances at year end. The remaining decrease at Mountain
Home and increases at Beebe and Mid-South were due to the HEERF funds.

Unrestricted

Unrestricted net position increased by $40.3 million. All of the campuses experienced increases. While the HEERF
awards attributed to a great deal of the increases; the campuses also showed increases due to reduced spending and
efforts to increase reserves. The majority of this increase was a $24 million increase at the Jonesboro campus due to
an increased effort to grow the University’s reserves balance. While Henderson State University has a negative
unrestricted net position; theirs did experience an increase of $5 million as a result of the HEERF funds. Additional
information about their net position may be found in Note 22. In addition, Beebe’s unrestricted net position also
increased by approximately $3.7 million. Mid-South and Mountain Home both had increases of $1.5 million.
Newport and Three Rivers had increases of $3.5 million and $833,000, respectively.

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

The net position as presented on the Statement of Net Position is based in part on the financial activities that occurred
during the fiscal year as presented in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position. This
statement's purpose is to present the revenues generated and received by the University, both operating and
nonoperating, the expenses incurred by the University, both operating and nonoperating, and all other financial gains
or losses experienced by the University during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED)

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position (Continued)

Generally, revenues from operations are received in exchange for the University providing services or products to
students and other constituencies. Operating expenses are those costs paid or incurred in producing those services or
products or in carrying out the mission of the University. Nonoperating revenues are financial inflows to the
University resulting from nonexchange transactions; that is, the University does not provide a specific service or
product in exchange for them. For example, appropriations from the state are considered nonoperating revenue
because the legislature does not receive a direct and commensurate benefit from the University in exchange for
providing the appropriation. A condensed Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position for fiscal
year 2021 compared to fiscal year 2020 is shown below.

Condensed Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
Increase/
2021 2020 Revised 2020 HSU 2020 ASU (Decrease) Percent Change
Operating Revenues
Tuition and Fees, Net $ 70,455,406 $ 77,026,297 $ 10,804,478 $ 66,221,819 $ (6,570,891) (8.53%)
Grants and Contracts 36,894,255 38,437,890 2,503,675 35,934,215 (1,543,635) (4.02%)
Auxiliary Enterprises, Net 29,367,343 35,030,469 9,223,208 25,807,261 (5,663,126) (16.17%)
Other 11,688,025 12,278,686 525,640 11,753,046 (590,661) (4.81%)
Total Operating Revenues 148,405,029 162,773,342 23,057,001 139,716,341 (14,368,313) (8.83%)
Operating Expenses 363,809,589 365,039,802 61,978,278 303,061,524 (1,230,213) (0.34%)
Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
State Appropriations 135,778,821 131,515,710 21,487,337 110,028,373 4,263,111 3.24%
Grants and Contracts 58,561,444 63,740,768 12,208,165 51,532,603 (5,179,324) (8.13%)
Interest on Capital Asset - Related Debt (10,104,249) (10,351,257) (2,459,912) (7,891,345) 247,008 (2.39%)
Other 63,850,746 35,425,349 3,838,100 31,587,249 28,425,397 80.24%
Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 248,086,762 220,330,570 35,073,690 185,256,880 27,756,192 12.60%
Income Before Other Revenues,

Expenses, Gains or Losses 32,682,202 18,064,110 (3,847,587) 21,911,697 14,618,092 80.92%
Capital Appropriations 1,223,869 98,112 - 98,112 1,125,757 1,147.42%
Capital Grants and Gifts 8,848,584 356,598 - 356,598 8,491,986 2,381.39%
Other 1,125,613 (174,736) 43,880 (218,616) 1,300,349 (744.18%)
Total 11,198,066 279,974 43,880 236,094 10,918,092
Increase (Decrease) in Net Position S 43,830,268 $ 18,344,084 S (3,803,707) S 22,147,791 $ 25,536,184 139.21%
Net Position, Beginning of Year $409,733,155 $391,389,071 $ 23,578,616 $ 367,810,455 S 18,344,084 4.69%
Restatement for GASB 75 (Note 20) S 74,068
Net Position, End of Year $453,687,491 $409,733,155 $ 19,774,909 $ 389,958,246 S 43,954,336 10.73%
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED)

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position (Continued)

Revenues
Total revenues increased by approximately $13 million.

Operating Revenues
Total operating revenues decreased by $14.4 million.

Tuition and Fees, net

Net tuition and fees decreased by $6.5 million. Gross tuition and f